

UNIVERSIDADE D COIMBRA

Alexandre Nunes Neto

GENE DELETION AND NANOBODIES STRATEGIES TO TARGET S100B AND IMPROVE RECOVERY IN AN EX VIVO DEMYELINATING MODEL

Dissertação no âmbito do Mestrado em Biologia Celular e Molecular com Especialização em Neurobiologia orientada pela Professora Doutora Adelaide Maria Afonso Fernandes Borralho (iMed.ULisboa, Faculdade de Farmácia, Universidade de Lisboa) e pelo Professor Doutor Carlos Jorge Alves Miranda Bandeira Duarte (Departamento de Ciências da Vida, Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia, Universidade de Coimbra) apresentada ao Departamento de Ciências da Vida da Universidade de Coimbra.

Outubro de 2020



UNIVERSIDADE Ð COIMBRA

Alexandre Nunes Neto

GENE DELETION AND NANOBODIES STRATEGIES TO TARGET S100B AND IMPROVE RECOVERY IN AN EX VIVO DEMYELINATING MODEL

Dissertação no âmbito do Mestrado em Biologia Celular e Molecular com Especialização em Neurobiologia orientada pela Professora Doutora Adelaide Maria Afonso Fernandes Borralho (iMed.ULisboa, Faculdade de Farmácia, Universidade de Lisboa) e pelo Professor Doutor Carlos Jorge Alves Miranda Bandeira Duarte (Departamento de Ciências da Vida, Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia, Universidade de Coimbra) apresentada ao Departamento de Ciências da Vida da Universidade de Coimbra.

Outubro de 2020

The studies presented in this thesis were performed in the Neuron-Glia in Health and Biology group, at the Research Institute for Medicines (iMed.ULisboa), Faculty of Pharmacy, Universidade de Lisboa, under the supervision of Professor Adelaide Fernandes, PhD, and in collaboration with Professor Claudio Gomes, Faculty of Sciences, Universidade de Lisboa.



Work presented in this master thesis was supported by Medal of Honor L'Oréal for Women in Science, Innovation grant Ordem dos Farmacêuticos and GMSI–Merck to AF, and by Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia UIDB/04138/2020 to iMed.ULisboa.



Para ti Pai.

"Choose a Job You Love, and You Will Never Have to Work a Day in Your Life." - Confucius

Agradecimentos

Em primeiro lugar, gostaria de agradecer à **Professora Doutora Dora Brites**, investigadora principal do grupo no qual fui acolhido, Neuron-Glia Biology in Health and Disease. Só assim tive a possibilidade de desenvolver o meu trabalho durante este ano que passou, tal como sentir-me mais próximo do que nunca da comunidade científica. Um muito obrigado.

Um Gigante Obrigado a si **Adelaide**! Sem si teria sido impossível desenvolver este trabalho com pernas e cabeça e com o melhor rigor científico possível. Agradeço pelo seu profissionalismo constante, pela confiança depositada em mim para desenvolver parte deste projeto consigo, também pela partilha de ideias e por ter sempre fomentado um espírito crítico! Agradeço também pela forma calma e clara com que resolveu certos problemas, que para mim não pareciam ter sequer solução, o que me fazia parecer uma barata tonta dentro do laboratório. Também pelo pote gigante de paciência que teve para me explicar certos assuntos e também de esperar para que eu os entendesse. Consigo, aprendi a ser melhor, nem que fosse pela imposição de deadlines para que eu avançasse com a intodução e afins, e não os deixar para a última. Apesar do meu interesse prévio nesta doença, com a sua ajuda, ganhei um enorme gosto a estudá-la e sinto-me muito agradecido por todo o apoio incansável. Espero não a ter desapontado de alguma maneira, tentei dar sempre o meu melhor. Um Obrigado Gigante de novo e um até já!

Gostaria de agradecer ao **Professor Doutor Carlos Duarte** pela disponibilidade dada desde o início, assim que lhe pedi para ser meu orientador interno. Queria agradecer também pela prontidão e profissionalismo com que me reviu a tese, apesar de faltarem poucos dias para a deadline! Para além disso, gostaria de salientar o facto de ter mostrado afincadamente a necessidade de espírito crítico no mundo científico, o que me fez crescer não só a nível profissional mas também pessoal.

Um muito obrigado à **Doutora Andreia**! Obrigado pelas horas a fio e de frio que passou no confocal a tirar fotos lindas às minhas culturas! Tenho de lhe oferecer uma manta para a próxima... Não só no confocal, mas também no laboratório, a ajuda foi incansável no que toca a corrida de Westerns não é? Esta técnica que toda a gente adora! Por fim, pela boa disposição contagiante!

Gostaria também de expressar o meu agradecimento à **Professora Doutora Ana Rita Vaz**, pela sua constante disponibilidade para ajudar o Afonso (eu), incluindo a encontrar-me dentro do laboratório quando não sabia onde estavam as coisas.

E agora dos migos da CAVE do CPM, começo por qual? Foram todos muito importantes neste percurso conjunto, por isso um muito obrigado! Em primeiro lugar à miguxa Catarina Barros! Obrigado pela pessoa que és! Estiveste sempre lá para mim para o que precisasse (principalmente quando eu começava a entrar em depressão por causa da tese ou até por não dar com os anticorpos). Pela ajuda constante, pelas horas no confocal também, pela preocupação e pela amizade acima de tudo! À Maria GUEDES Vaz Pinto não tenho nada a agradecer, next. Brincadeira! Muito obrigado mesmo! Obrigado por me teres orientado na minha primeira semana no CPM, nem que fosse só para saber onde é que ficavam as coisas (e não me refiro só dentro do lab). Obrigado por tudo e principalmente por não me deixares sozinho nesta luta constante contra a sensação de que tinha acabado de fazer alguma coisa mal! À **Rita Ribeiro**, a pessoa da qual eu tinha quase medo no início mas que revelou ter um coração gigante, obrigado! Obrigado aos dois que tentam ser machos- α (**Gonçalo** e **JOLU**). Podem continuar a tentar. Obrigado Gonçalo pelas várias maneiras com que me recordas, quase todos os dias, que me roubaram o Ferrari que tinha estacionado à porta do CPM. Obrigado JOLU por todas as conversas e por me mostrares como é fácil correr 10 km! Aos que estiveram e estão a passar pela mesma dose que eu. Obrigado Paulão Carinhoso! Obrigado pela constante energia à Speedy González (sempre a fundo nêmm nêmm nêêêêmmm!). Ainda hoje me pergunto se só as culturas é que eram incubadas com a dorgas. Hermes muito obrigado pelo esforço! Pelo esforço que eu faço para te conseguir ouvir, ainda para mais eu sou surdo e andamos de máscaras! Fora de brincadeiras, obrigado por toda a disponibilidade e sentido de entreajuda. Obrigado pela boa disposição Daniela! Não houve dia em que não nos ríssemos. Obrigado **Isabel** pelas várias boleias em dias chuvosos! Pela transmissão da boa energia jovem que tens dentro de ti! Obrigado Laura por me fazeres sentir em Hogwarts sempre que passava junto de ti! Obrigado Francisco pela companhia nas inúmeras horas de volta dos Westerns e afins!

Tenho de agradecer onde tudo isto começou, na FCUL, a minha segunda casa que me fez crescer imenso e me deu os melhores amigos que a vida pode pedir. Um muito obrigado aos meus mais próximos que sabem quem são! Um obrigado também ao casal mais lindo que me acompanhou nesta jornada a Coimbra, **Bibisa** e **Rodas**! Pela partilha de ansiedade antes dos exames e por terem feito do meu ano em Coimbra um ano brutal! Um ESPECIAL OBRIGADO aos **Bioespigas** (ou Take Away de Fat Divers)! Sem voçês este ano teria sido muito mais difícil do que foi! Não vou entrar em detalhes, sabem o que valem!

Teresa, não tenho maneira de te agradecer por tudo! Já me aturas há 3 anos e tens sido sempre o meu porto de abrigo. És a única pessoa onde posso desabafar tudo e mais alguma coisa sem ter receio de nada. OBRIGADO por toda a paciência que tiveste comigo este ano (eu sei que não deve ser nada fácil quando estou em dias não), pela motivação extra que só tu me conseguiste dar, por saberes o quanto isto é importante para mim e principalmente por me fazeres acreditar que sou sempre capaz de mais e melhor. Por todo o carinho e amor, pela tua presença constante na minha vida. Agora que estou eu a acabar e tu a começar este percurso, no que depender de mim, vou fazer o máximo para que consigas tudo. Por tudo, mais uma vez, obrigado.

FAMÍLIA! Sem dúvida o mais importante para mim. Obrigado a todos! Pais, mana, tios, tia, primos e avós. Sem voçês isto teria sido impossível também, obrigado por tudo, por me fazerem crescer da melhor forma e me fazerem sorrir ao longo destes 23 anos! Tem-me custado bastante todo este tempo longe do meu belo Algarve. Tenho muitas saudades vossas! Um especial obrigado à minha MÃE, pela força de mulher que tem mostrado sempre e incodicionalmente, apesar de todas as adversidades que a vida trouxe. Obrigado por mostrares que esta é para ser vivida enquanto ainda se pode. Por todo o investimento que tens feito em mim, por todo o amor, OBRIGADO. Obrigado MANA, por tudo também! Por já gostares um bocadinho mais de mim do que há uns bons anos atrás não é? O chamado AMOR-ÓDIO. Agora que também já estás na capital é aproveitar estes anos, a sério! Sempre com o máximo de cuidado mas não deixes que o COVID nem que nada te proíba de seres feliz, tu mereces!

Por último, a pessoa que mais me marcou, a qual dedico este trabalho e todos os meus trabalhos futuros, **PAI**. Não conheço ninguém que tenha encarado as adversidades da vida como tu. Obrigado pela boa disposição, pelas piadas, por todo o amor que me deste e que me dás. Pela forma como tens aprendido a viver com esta doença, sempre com um sorriso na cara e a vontade constante de o quereres ver também na cara das pessoas que te rodeiam. És uma força da natureza. Infelizmente, foi por tua causa que ganhei um enorme gosto a estudar esta doença (também amor-ódio, mas mais literal). Para além da mãe e da mana, é principalmente devido a ti que hoje sou quem sou. Não existem formas possíveis para descrever o que sinto em relação a tudo isto, apenas que esta fraqueza me deu a maior das forças para fazer o que faço todos os dias, e com gosto. Obrigado PAI.

Table of Contents

Resumo	xiii
Abstract	xv
Abbreviations	xvii
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Highlights of Multiple Sclerosis	1
1.2. Epidemiology	2
1.3. Diagnosis and clinical courses	3
1.4. Multiple Sclerosis pathophysiology	4
1.4.1. Demyelination	5
1.4.2. Neuroinflammation and glia reactivity	6
1.4.2.1. S100B	8
1.4.2.2. S100B Receptors	9
1.4.2.2.1. Receptor for advanced glycation end products	9
1.4.2.2.2. Toll-like receptors	11
1.4.3. Therapeutic strategies against S100B/RAGE axis	12
1.4.3.1. Arundic Acid	12
1.4.3.2. Pentamidine	13
1.4.3.3. Antibodies	13
1.4.3.4. A promising approach using Nanobodies	13
1.5. Experimental models to study Multiple Sclerosis and S100B	15
1.5.1. In Vivo models	15
1.5.1.1. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)	16
1.5.1.2. Virus-induced model	16
1.5.1.3. Toxin-induced model	17
1.5.2. Ex Vivo models	
1.5.2.1. Organotypic slice culture	19
1.5.3. Transgenic mice	20
2. Motivation	23
3. Aims	25
4. Material and Methods	27
4.1. Animals	27

	4.2.	Ex vivo model of demyelination 2	7
	4.3.	Total RNA Extraction and qRealTime-PCR 2	9
	4.4.	Immunohistochemistry	1
	4.5.	Western blot 3	2
	4.6.	S100B determination	3
	4.7.	Statistical analysis 3	4
5.	Res	ults 3	7
	5.1.	S100B expression is exacerbated after LPC-induced demyelination	7
	5.2.	Demyelination degree is worsened in the presence of S100B 3	8
	5.3. is prev	Pro-inflammatory profile seen in S100B WT cultures following demyelination vented in S100B KO cultures	+0
	5.4. treatn	Demyelination-induced S100B expression is not affected by the assayed nents4	3
	5.5. demye	Nanobody treatments seem to have a potential beneficial effect on the elination degree caused by S100B overexpression	4
	5.6. nanob	Astrocytic structure loss following demyelination is prevented by odies4	6
	5.7. LPC-in	Nanobody 17 seems to revert the pro-inflammatory profile seen following duced demyelination	9
6.	Disc	sussion	3
7.	Con	clusion 6	1
8.	Futi	ure perspectives	52
9.	Refe	erences	5

Figure index

1. Introduction

Figure 1.1 - Multiple Sclerosis prevalence around the world	. 3
Figure 1.2 - Schematic representation of Multiple Sclerosis clinical courses over time	. 4
Figure 1.3 - Elevated levels of S100B in both cerebrospinal fluid (a) and serum (b) of patients a the time of diagnosis with RRMS.	t . 8
Figure 1.4 - Schematic representation of different forms of RAGE	10
Figure 1.5 - Schematic representation of antibodies and nanobodies.	14

2. Material and Methods

Eiguro 2.1	Schematic	representation	of cosc	sulture and	trootmont	timonoints	20
rigule 2.1	- schematic	representation	ULCOSC (Luiture anu	treatment	timepoints	

3. Results

Figure 3.1 - Demyelination induces a substantial release of S100B in cerebellar organotypic slice cultures
Figure 3.2 - S100B is needed for oligodendrocyte damage and consequent OPC recruitment following demyelination
Figure 3.3 – S100B presence worsens the inflammatory profile after LPC insult
Figure 3.4 – NF-kB proinflammatory pathway seem to be inactive past 48 h of demyelination induction
Figure 3.5 - Demyelination induces a substantial release of S100B in cerebellar organotypic slice cultures (COSC) despite of the treatment used
Figure 3.6 – The degree of demyelination in COSCs is apparently lower following nanobody treatment
Figure 3.7 – S100B neurotoxic effect change the expression of oligodendrocyte lineage cells- associated genes, which may be partially prevented by Nanobodies treatment
Figure 3.8 - S100B neutralization by Pentamidine and Nanobodies 16 and 17 prevents astrocytic structure loss in the course of demyelination
Figure 3.9 – Microglia seems to migrate towards myelin tracts upon demyelination and possibly phagocytose myelin debris
Figure 3.10 - More pro-inflammatory profile is reverted upon treatments in LPC-induced demyelination cultures
Figure 3.11 – Different treatments seem to abrogate NF-kB proinflammatory pathway inhibition past 48 h of demyelination induction

Table index

Table 1 - List of primers used in qRealTime-PCR assays	30
Table 2 - List of primary antibodies used for immunohistochemistry procedures	31
Table 3 - List of secondary antibodies used for immunohistochemistry procedures	32
Table 4 - List of primary antibodies used in western blot procedures	33
Table 5 - List of secondary antibodies used in western blot procedures	33

Resumo

A Esclerose Múltipla (EM) é uma doença crónica, neurodegenerativa e autoimune, caraterizada por processos inflamatórios e desmielinizantes no sistema nervoso central (SNC). Devido a estes processos, começam por aparecer lesões focais em certas regiões do SNC e, dependendo da região, podem surgir diferentes sintomas, resultando no aumento da incapacidade motora e cognitiva à medida que a doença evolui. Apesar dos inúmeros avanços a nível do conhecimento dos mecanismos subjacentes à complexa dinâmica patofisiológica desta doença, a mesma possui uma causalidade multifatorial que torna difícil o desenvolvimento de novas terapêuticas. Neste sentido, a procura de novos biomarcadores e alvos terapêuticos tem sido essencial para o desenvolvimento de novas estratégias para combater a EM. Tomando partido destes, vários avanços têm sido feitos na área da EM, como é o caso da molécula S100B. Em níveis fisiológicos, esta proteína promove a correta diferenciação e maturação de oligodendrócitos, necessários para a correta mielinização do SNC. No entanto, foram encontrados elevados níveis da proteína S100B tanto no soro como no líquido cefalorraquidiano de doentes com EM em fase de diagnóstico, estando também presente nas lesões ativas no SNC. Esta elevação de S100B é também detetada em modelos ex vivo de desmielinização, tendo sido demostrado que leva à ativação tanto de astrócitos como de células da microglia, potenciando o processo neurodegenerativo. Recentemente, o nosso grupo demonstrou que a neutralização desta proteína resultava num menor grau de desmielinização, de reatividade glial e consequentemente numa redução da resposta inflamatória.

Desta forma na presente dissertação analisámos em primeiro lugar o efeito neurotóxico desta proteína, através da utilização de culturas organotípicas de cerebelo, provenientes de três linhagens de murganho, nos quais o gene para a S100B está alterado. Assim, através da comparação de culturas provenientes de murganhos expressando a S100B *wild type*, com as de heterozigóticos e ainda de homozigóticos com S100B *knockout*, foi possível notar uma diminuição tanto da desmielinização como da inflamação. Após a comprovação dos efeitos pejorativos desta proteína, procedemos à sua neutralização recorrendo a três Nanocorpos diferentes dirigidos para a S100B. A possibilidade do uso de Nanocorpos específicos para a S100B despertou a nossa curiosidade, devido às várias

características vantajosas destas nanomoléculas, tal como a sua alta capacidade para reconhecer epítopos específicos, a sua maior estabilidade e solubilidade tal como uma imunogenicidade reduzida. A utilização dos Nanocorpos não só levou a uma diminuição da desmielinização, como também a um decréscimo do processo inflamatório. Desta maneira, estes resultados vêm reforçar o papel da S100B na patogénese desta doença e demonstrar que a sua neutralização, pelo uso de Nanocorpos específicos para esta proteína, constitui uma nova possibilidade terapêutica para doenças desmielinizantes inflamatórias como a EM.

Palavras-chave: Esclerose Múltipla; Neuroinflamação; Desmielinização; S100B; Nanocorpos

Abstract

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic neurodegenerative and autoimmune disease, characterized by inflammation and demyelination of the central nervous system (CNS). Altogether, these processes produce focal lesions in specific CNS regions, and depending on the affected region, different symptoms will appear, leading to an increase in both motor and cognitive disability, dependent on disease progression. Despite the enormous efforts done to unravel the mechanisms underlying MS pathology, the complex onset phenomenon might be due to an interplay of different factors, hampering the development of new therapeutics. The pursuit to find new biomarkers is extremely crucial, in order to find new different ways to tackle this disease. S100B is an inflammatory molecule that has been described as a major player in MS pathology. At physiological levels, S100B promotes differentiation and maturation of oligodendrocytes, required for the correct myelination of the CNS. Nevertheless, S100B has been found at high levels, in both cerebrospinal fluid and serum of MS patients at the diagnosis stage, as well in the active demyelinating lesions. This abnormal S100B overexpression was also detected in ex vivo demyelinating models, leading to microglia and astrocyte activation, exacerbating the neurodegenerative process. Recently, our group demonstrated that through S100B neutralization, a lower degree of demyelination, reactive gliosis, and also inflammation were obtained.

First, in the present thesis, we went further to analyse S100B neurotoxic effects using cerebellar organotypic slice cultures from three different mice. S100B heterozygotic and knockout mice demonstrated a decrease in demyelination as well as in inflammation, when compared to wild type mice, evidencing the neurotoxic effect of S100B when overexpressed. Afterwards, we tried to neutralize S100B using three different nanobodies. These small molecules possess several advantages such as extreme specificity to recognize unique epitopes, higher affinity, stability, and solubility than commonly used antibodies, as well as reduced immunogenicity. Interestingly, in the presence of these nanobodies, we observed a reduced degree of demyelination as well as a diminished inflammatory environment. Overall, our results emphasize the already described pejorative roles of S100B on MS pathophysiology, highlighting that S100B

neutralization by the use of nanobodies, might be a promising therapeutic possibility regarding demyelinating and inflammatory diseases as is the case of MS.

Keywords: Multiple Sclerosis; Neuroinflammation; Demyelination; S100B; Nanobodies

Abbreviations

AD	Alzheimer's disease
AGEs	Advanced glycation end-products
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
CDR	Complementarity-determining region
CFA	Complete Freund's adjuvant
СН	Constant domain of the heavy chain
CIS	Clinically isolated syndrome
CL	Constant domain of the light chain
CNS	Central Nervous System
COSC	Cerebellar organotypic slice culture
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
DAMPs	Danger-associated molecular patterns
DMTs	Disease-modifying therapies
DN-RAGE	Dominant negative RAGE
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
Fab	Fragment antigen-binding

Fc	Fragment crystallizable region
fl-RAGE	Full-length RAGE
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
HMBG1	High mobility group box 1
IL-1α	Interleukin 1a
IL-1β	Interleukin 1β
IL-6	Interleukin 6
lgG	Immunoglobulin G
LPC	Lysophosphatidylcholine
MBP	Myelin basic protein
MHV	Mouse hepatitis virus
MOG	Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MS	Multiple Sclerosis
NAWM	Normal-appearing white matter
Nb	Nanobody
NF-kB	Nuclear-factor kappa B
OL	Oligodendrocyte
OPC	Oligodendrocyte precursor cell
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns

PLP	Myelin proteolipid protein
PPMS	Primary progressive MS
PRR	Pattern recognition receptors
RAGE	Receptor for advanced glycation end-products
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RRMS	Relapsing-remitting MS
S100B	Calcium-binding protein S100B
SPMS	Secondary progressive MS
sRAGE	Soluble RAGE
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TMEV	Theiler's murine encephalitis virus
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor α
VEPs	Visually evoked potentials
VH	Variable domain of IgG antibody heavy chain
VHH	N-terminal variable domain of the heavy chain-only antibody
VL	Variable domain of the light chain

1. Introduction

1.1. Highlights of Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is a chronic autoimmune disease characterized by inflammation and demyelination of the central nervous system (CNS). This disorder is related to bloodbrain barrier (BBB) disruption, letting infiltrating lymphocytes reach the brain, where they attack myelin causing its degradation, oligodendrocyte (OL) malfunction, inflammation, gliosis, as well as neuronal and axonal damage. This relentless attack against myelin sheaths produces focal lesions, found in both grey and white matter of the CNS, including the brain, optic nerve, and spinal cord^{1,2}. Depending on the focal lesion region, different symptoms emerge, mainly sensorial and visual disturbances, motor problems, fatigue, and cognitive dysfunctions^{3,4}. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), one of the most decisive techniques for MS diagnosis, can detect these CNS lesions as well as monitor disease activity alongside MS progression. In most patients, reversible episodes of these neurological dysfunctions, also known as relapses, usually trigger the onset, which can last days or weeks. It is possible to recover entirely but quite often only partially, and overtime, permanent deficits will remain, increasing clinical disability, leading to the progression of the disease⁵. Not all patients follow the same disease profile, different forms of the disease have already been defined, considering its clinical course. Some patients acquire a relapsing-remitting form of the disease, while others, a progressive form. The etiology is not yet established since MS has a multifactorial background of possible causes, although, genetic susceptibility and environmental risk factors play a substantial role, increasing the predisposition to develop MS⁶. The impotence and incapacity of self-care in affected individuals, give rise to a dependence on family and caregivers' help, followed by a significant reduction in life quality with an associated elevated economic burden⁷.

1.2. Epidemiology

Nowadays, MS is the most common cause of non-traumatic neurological disability in young adults, affecting almost three times more women than men. Disease onset starts in early adulthood, and the number of affected individuals has been increasing across the years, including now approximately 2.5 million people around the world⁸. MS prevalence differs according to ethnicity and geographic locations. Many studies have already described a positive correlation between MS incidence and higher latitude countries, being North Europe and North America, the ones with the highest values, with 108 and 140 per 100,000 individuals, respectively⁷ (Figure 1.1). In Portugal, the prevalence is lower, reaching 56 per 100,000 individuals⁹. Remarkably, environment interactions revealed to be capable of modifying the risk to develop MS when both immigration age and country of residence are combined, since individuals that have migrated to a different country after early adulthood, remain with the disease risk from their first living country¹⁰. The most reasonable explanation for this correlation between latitude and MS cases is the lack of sun exposure in these regions, which impairs vitamin D production. Even though the specific action mechanism of this vitamin and its role in MS pathology is not well understood, it has been suggested to have a role in the modulation of the immune system^{11,12}. There is no apparent cause for this disease, although genetic, lifestyle, and environmental risk factors interaction can alter the probability to develop MS. Factors such as Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection, smoking and lack of sun exposure/vitamin D production are the most well-established ones¹². Regarding genetic influence, there are several genes linked with MS, such as the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) system, in particular, the genetic variant HLA-DRB1*15:01 allele which has the most substantial impact in MS susceptibility. This gene is involved in antigen recognition by T cells, although the referred variant allows a self-antigen immune attack, targeting myelin and leading to the demyelination of the CNS⁴. Relatively to ethnicity, Caucasian individuals are the ones with the highest MS incidence, while Afro-Caribbean and East-Asia population present the lower incidence⁴.



Figure 1.1 - Multiple Sclerosis prevalence around the world. (Adapted from Thompson, A. et al. 2013⁷)

1.3. Diagnosis and clinical courses

Diagnosing MS is not simple due to the intrinsic heterogenicity of symptoms and lesions between patients. Several analyses must be done to fulfil MS diagnostic criteria, including the presence of CNS damage, disseminated both in time and space, accessible through MRI. Another analysis includes lumbar puncture, which gives access to oligoclonal immunoglobulin G (IgG) bands determination, found in 90% of patients. Additionally, neurophysiology, a much less invasive method, allows the recording of visually evoked potentials (VEPs) to which MS patients usually have a delayed performance. Finally, blood tests are also used, however, most often with the purpose to rule out other possible diseases^{4,5}. Before the beginning of the 21st century, there were four defined forms of MS¹³, now, due to imaging technologies progress and the development of new biomarkers for MS, some recent rearrangements were made in the definition of the MS disease phenotypes **(Figure 1.2)**. The recent guidelines indicate that the disease onset is characterized by an initial demyelination attack in a particular region of the CNS, most often in the optic nerve, spinal cord, brainstem, cerebellum or even in the cerebral hemispheres corresponding to a specific clinical debility, directly related with the region affected⁶. The first demyelinating lesion detected in an individual is called clinically



Figure 1.2 - Schematic representation of Multiple Sclerosis clinical courses over time. About 85-90% of patients acquire a Relapsing-Remitting MS (RRMS) form of the disease, characterized by punctual increases in clinical disability due to inflammatory episodes (orange bars), followed by a remission period. In 15-25 years, RRMS patients frequently shift their relapsing-remitting form to a progressive form, termed Secondary Progressive MS (SPMS) (green curve). With much lower incidence, 10-15% of MS patients develop a progressive form of the disease since the onset without evident relapses, also known as Primary-Progressive MS (PPMS) (blue curve). (Adapted from Filippi et al. 2018⁶)

isolated syndrome (CIS), which is not considered MS, although the presence of inflammatory and demyelinating processes can eventually lead to the diagnosis of MS if it satisfies the diagnostic criteria. The most prevalent form (85-90%) is relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS), characterized by punctual attacks, also known as relapses, in which neurologic dysfunction symptoms appear. Most often, there is a period of recovering, allowing the symptoms to disappear partially or completely. Therefore, if the symptoms become long-lasting, it may lead to the progression of this neurological disease^{14,15}. In 15-25 years, RRMS patients frequently shift their relapsing-remitting form to a progressive form, termed secondary progressive MS (SPMS), wherein a continuous progression of clinical disability without relapses becomes prominent. The other MS type, even though much less prevalent (10-15%), designed as primary progressive MS (PPMS) involves clinical disability increase over time, in other words, a continuous disease progression without relapses⁵.

1.4. Multiple Sclerosis pathophysiology

Several cell types are responsible and involved in the insult of the CNS and homeostasis loss, including activated infiltrating macrophages, resident astrocytes, and microglia, releasing molecules such as reactive oxygen species (ROS), reactive nitrogen species (RNS), cytotoxic and proinflammatory cytokines, in parallel with activation of other invading cells from the peripheral immune system¹⁶. One of the MS hallmarks is BBB disruption, which permits the access of several activated leukocytes to infiltrate the CNS, triggering myelin damage and inflammatory processes, subsequently establishing focal lesions in both white and grey matter⁶, although, the causative origin of it is not yet completely established. The pathology itself is characterized by T-cell-mediated inflammation, along with the release of antibodies by plasmocytes, reactive gliosis, OL dysfunction, known to be the central character for the correct myelination of CNS, neuronal and axonal damage, and the activation of the complement system^{17,18}. Together, all these features limit the normal process of remyelination and, subsequently, the neurological repair¹⁹.

1.4.1. Demyelination

OLs are the cells required to produce myelin in the CNS and needed for the correct axonal wrapping, so neurons can promptly propagate action potentials. In demyelinating diseases, the destruction of normal myelin sheets takes place, compromising the normal electrical conduction and comprises two types of demyelination. Primary demyelination is the most common, involving the injury, breakdown, and loss of myelin sheets, usually without axonal damage^{20,21}. In secondary demyelination, myelin loss is a result of axonal injury or even its loss²². In the initial course of the lesion, perivenous demyelination can be seen and the fusion to confluent demyelinated plaques allows the expansion to the adjacent normal-appearing white matter (NAWM), giving rise to "Dawson fingers" observed by MRI¹⁷.

When a demyelinating episode occurs, several different players can contribute in different ways, therefore augmenting the difficulty to find a specific guilty antigen, responsible for the triggering of the immune reaction in MS^{2,23}. Nevertheless, a cascade of an abnormal immune response against self-antigens can be enhanced by the release of cytokines and chemokines, in which the final target corresponds to OLs/myelin²⁴. Moreover, remyelination is a natural process that occurs after a demyelinating episode, through the proliferation, migration, and differentiation of oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPC) into myelinating OLs. This way, new myelin sheaths can be restored to the

denuded axons, protecting them from degeneration and restoring their normal function. Even though, this process can be limited and ineffective if the surrounding environment comprises an inflammatory milieu²⁵. Impaired remyelination will therefore cause axonal dysfunction, degeneration, and neuronal cell death, by which accumulating these lesions will result in neurological deficiencies²⁶. To create an optimal microenvironment for remyelination, astrocytes are known to recruit microglia, the CNS macrophages, to the lesion site playing a crucial role in the clearance of myelin debris left in the lesion region, through phagocytosis. Such debris were indeed described to impair the correct remyelination process by inhibiting the OPC differentiation^{27–30}.

1.4.2. Neuroinflammation and glia reactivity

Regarding neuroinflammation, it is known that immune cells, such as autoreactive T cells and B cells, in MS pathology, have the capacity to infiltrate the brain parenchyma, and without strict control of pro-inflammatory cytokines production, glial cell reactivity and subsequently neuronal and axonal damage are prone to occur^{16,31}. The inflammatory process itself is usually instigated around capillary venules and veins, and thereafter expands to the surrounding tissues¹⁷. Although is not clear whether the infiltration of autoreactive T and B lymphocytes, through BBB, is the trigger for MS onset, whether is a secondary event to microglia and macrophage activation as well as the local release of cytokines and self-antigens^{32–34}. Most of the pathological examinations can be explained by both theories, due to the heterogeneity of the clinical indicators as well as the medical tools' limitations. Microglia and astrocytes, CNS resident immune cells, play a fundamental role in preserving CNS homeostasis through neuronal support, facilitating synaptic contacts and, thereafter, improving signaling between neurons³⁵. In MS, several regulatory systems can be altered, as the case of both microglia and astrocytes, which can undergo both morphological and functional changes. Even if the main goal of both cell types is to recover brain homeostasis, they can switch to a more neurotoxic phenotype, to counteract the insult received, although can even foster demyelination and therefore the formation of gliotic scars, found in inactive lesions³⁵. Astrocytes have a star-shape morphology being the most abundant CNS glial cell type and have been described to promote neuronal survival, outgrowth, synaptogenesis, OL metabolic support, and myelination process^{27,36}. Upon brain injury, they can undergo several morphological and functional modifications, becoming activated (the so called reactive astrogliosis). As immunocompetent cells, they can also release neurotoxic mediators, to fight demyelination or other brain injuries, although, in the process, they can become a threat to other cells, since can induce the death of neurons and OLs³⁷. Regarding microglia, these cells are the CNS resident macrophages and are known to be the first line of defence against brain injury. Here they can respond to harmful stimuli through not only the recruitment but also the activation of immune cells, acting as antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and thereby initiating the inflammatory response²⁷. This microglia reactivity, similarly to astrocytes, can become dangerous to surrounding cells, due to an intensified release of neurotoxic and pro-inflammatory molecules³⁸. Further, as mentioned in the previous section, microglia also play a pivotal role regarding myelin debris phagocytosis, needed for remyelination to occur^{27–30}. Together, the interplay between astrocytes and microglia, play an important role in the modulation of the immune response, mainly through the production of pro-inflammatory mediators^{39,40}, although their accumulation can amplify this response, exacerbating demyelination and neurodegeneration⁴¹. Linked with these lesions and neuroinflammation itself, several molecules have been found deeply altered. The CSF of MS patients has been used as a biomarker duct to measure cytotoxic activity, through the search for specific autoantibodies, such as anti-MOG and anti-MBP antibodies (OL-targeted autoantibodies)⁴², neuronal damage-associated light neurofilaments (NFL)⁴³, cytotoxic molecules as the case of S100B^{19,44,45}, among other biomarkers¹⁹.

It has already been proposed that the location, shape, and specific patterns of certain active demyelination lesions are congruent with the possibility of being driven by a soluble molecule that can directly or indirectly activate microglia⁴⁶. Astrocytic and microglial activation, along with the intensified release of proinflammatory cytokines have been described to follow lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC)-induced demyelination. Tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α and interleukin (IL)-1 β were reported to be released from astrocytes and microglia when S100B is overexpressed^{19,26,45}. Interestingly, this protein has been shown to play a pivotal role in the inflammatory process of MS pathology. Indeed, it was found at high levels in both CSF and serum of MS patients at diagnosis

(Figure 1.3) and seems to promote glial reactivity as well as OL impairments in high concentration¹⁹.



Figure 1.3 - Elevated levels of S100B in both cerebrospinal fluid (a) and serum (b) of patients at the time of diagnosis with RRMS. (Retrieved from Barateiro et al. 2016¹⁹).

1.4.2.1. S100B

S100B is a small protein involved in Ca²⁺ homeostasis and signaling. The nomenclature of this protein is derived from the technique used to be detected since it has complete solubility in a 100%-saturated solution with ammonium sulphate at neutral pH⁴⁷. From the S100 proteins family, S100B contains two EF-hand helix-loop-helix Ca²⁺ binding domains⁴⁸. Within cells, S100B can be found in the form of homodimer and occasionally as an S100B-S100A1 heterodimer⁴⁹. Being mainly expressed and secreted by astrocytes, it regulates protein phosphorylation, transcription, enzyme activity, metabolism, and, noteworthy, neuron and glia proliferation and differentiation control^{44,45}. S100B functions can drastically differ depending on their location. Intracellularly, as a regulator, S100B promotes neuronal proliferation and migration, OL differentiation, modulates cytoskeleton dynamics, required for the correct astrocytic morphology and also inhibits apoptosis^{44,50}. Regarding the extracellular compartment, this molecule plays a signaling role, in which, binding to the receptor for advanced glycation end-products (RAGE) or Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) and, depending on S100B concentration, ranging from nanomolar (nM) to micromolar (µM), can be neuroprotective and neurotoxic, respectively⁵¹. In the absence of disease, S100B can promote neurite extension, neuronal proliferation, and microglia chemotactic survival, astrocytic capacity⁴⁵. In neurodegenerative diseases like Alzheimer's Disease (AD) and MS, S100B is

8

overexpressed and highly released upon injury, by astrocytes. This abnormal secretion leads to an increase in extracellular S100B concentration, reaching μ M concentrations^{19,52}. In these conditions, S100B binds to its receptor and promotes several neurotoxic effects, as is the case of microglial and astrocyte activation, leading to the release of several pro-inflammatory mediators, the production of ROS, apoptosis induction, and neuronal death⁴⁵. Oligodendrogenesis is impaired too, leading to a delay in remyelination, preventing the normal process of regeneration²⁶.

1.4.2.2. S100B Receptors

Cell receptors play a pivotal role in the detection of several signals and their consequent transduction to a cellular or tissue response. Some studies have been reporting the influence of specific receptors in certain physiological aspects related to inflammation, activation of the immune system, which when compromised, can both contribute to the development of neurodegenerative diseases and its progression, as is the case of MS. Two pattern recognition receptors (PRR), RAGE and TLR4 which bind S100B, have been repeatedly proving to be contributors to an inflammatory and innate immune response, that may have an effect on the immune status during MS development^{19,53–57}. Not only in MS patients but also in MS animal models, both receptors have been found dysregulated^{19,53,54,56–58}.

1.4.2.2.1. Receptor for advanced glycation end products

From the immunoglobulin super-family, RAGE is a multiligand receptor that can be activated by several ligands such as advanced glycation end-products (AGEs), amyloid-like structures, proinflammatory cytokines, and danger-associated molecular pattern (DAMP) proteins as is the case of S100B and high mobility group box 1 (HMBG1), among others^{59–63}. Being a transmembrane receptor, the full-length protein is composed by three major domains: the extracellular fraction, to which ligands bind (one N-terminal V-type and two C-type Ig domains); a single transmembrane helix; and a negatively charged C-terminal tail in the cytosolic region, required for signal transduction⁶⁴ (Figure 1.4). Moreover, there are also two additional isoforms of RAGE, the dominant negative RAGE (DN-RAGE), lacking the cytoplasmatic portion, and the soluble RAGE (sRAGE), lacking both transmembrane and cytosolic portions. Both isoforms are unable to transduce the signal

and act like a S100B sequester^{65,66}. RAGE is ubiquitously expressed, by diverse cell types, including MS-participating cells: endothelial cells of the BBB; immune cells, comprising Tand B-cells, monocytes/macrophages and dendritic cells; and several CNS cells including microglia and astrocytes^{62,67}.



Figure 1.4 - Schematic representation of different forms of RAGE. Full-length RAGE structure (fl-RAGE), the dominant negative isoform of RAGE, lacking cytoplasmatic tail (DN-RAGE), and soluble RAGE, which lacks both cytoplasmatic tail and the transmembrane portion (sRAGE). Both DN-RAGE and sRAGE isoforms are unable to mediate RAGE-mediated cellular activation, derived from RAGE-ligand interaction and act as decoy receptors, capturing RAGE ligands. (Adapted from Ding et al. 2005⁶⁵)

As previously depicted, RAGE can exert different roles depending on the ligand and its respective concentration. Nevertheless, RAGE pathways, quite often conduct to the activation of the immune system through different processes, including oxidative stress production, the activation of nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB), leading to the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β and TNF- $\alpha^{68,69}$, which in turn trigger the recruitment of microglia and astrocytes to the lesion, in a RAGE-dependent manner^{70,71}. Altogether, it is created a sustained period of cellular activation, spreading cellular dysfunction and consequently, evoking chronic inflammation. In pathological situations, as inflammation, neurodegeneration, nephropathy, and cancer, RAGE has been found upregulated⁷². Interestingly, *post-mortem* brain sections from MS patients showed a consistent increase of RAGE expression by macrophages or microglia, within active demyelinating lesions as well as in the border of chronic active lesions¹⁹. In addition, blood analysis from MS patients showed a marked overexpression of RAGE in both monocytes and
T-lymphocytes⁷³. On the other way, is noteworthy to mention that sRAGE was found downregulated in MS patients⁷⁴. These results highlight the role played by the S100B/RAGE axis in MS, with the duality of RAGE upregulation and sRAGE downregulation, having a harsher impact on MS pathology. Similar results were also found in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) animal models, where an increase of RAGE expression in the CNS lesions was accompanied by chemotactic immune cell migration to the CNS⁷⁵. Considering the previous results and the fact that the S100B/RAGE axis mediates microglial, astrocytic, and macrophage reactivity as well as migration and proliferation, it is of interest to develop new ways to target these events, in fact, some RAGE-targeted therapies, have been proving to be promising. sRAGE due to the inherent capacity of sequestering S100B can counteract the detrimental effect performed by the full-length isoform of RAGE. sRAGE has been showing to reduce immune cell infiltration and protect, at least partially, the development of EAE in mice. Similar results were reported by the same team, using RAGE antibodies which abrogated EAE induction⁷⁵. Another emergent possibility is DN-RAGE since it is also capable of interfering with RAGE signaling⁷⁶. The use of a RAGE antagonist has also proved to be effective in reducing S100B-induced damaging effects, including lesser astrogliosis, inflammation, and neuronal impairments, while improved OL differentiation and morphological maturation²⁶.

1.4.2.2.2. Toll-like receptors

Toll-like receptors (TLRs) have been described to be involved in several autoimmune pathologies including MS^{77–81}. Present at both cell and endosome membranes, these receptors are expressed by different immune cells such as B- and T-cells, dendritic cells as well as in macrophages^{82,83}, and do participate in pathogen recognition, coupled with host protection, through the production of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines⁸⁴ together with APC stimulation⁵⁷. Their primordial purpose seems to be the recognition of different exogenous pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), such as lipids/lipopeptides, proteins, and nucleic acids⁷⁹, often due to intruding pathogenic microorganisms⁵⁴. Even though, occasionally, TLRs can also recognize endogenous molecules, as DAMPs, enabling autoimmunity triggering, due to improper TLR activation to self-antigens⁸². S100B and HMGB1 are some of the molecules that can be recognized

by TLRs and have been repeatedly depicted to promote proinflammatory signaling through the interaction with TLR4^{55,70}. Among TLRs, TLR4 is one, if not the major player in MS pathology. Present at the cell membrane of several immune cells is widely expressed by T helper (Th) 17 cells, being one of the necessary promoters for Th17 differentiation. When activated, TLR4 can promote Th17 infiltration into the CNS⁵⁴, through the BBB, fostering CNS injury in MS patients⁸¹. Moreover, it has also been demonstrated to be involved in myelin damage and to promote inflammation in the spinal cord of EAE mice⁵⁴.

1.4.3. Therapeutic strategies against S100B/RAGE axis

As referred before, targeting S100B-related pathogenesis seems to be a promising approach concerning MS treatment. Different molecules have been used to target directly S100B, even with different mechanisms. Although, considering the double way of action of S100B, is important to preserve the neuroprotective role, meaning that we must decrease the extracellular concentrations to physiological levels, without completely abolish S100B expression or erase its entire function.

1.4.3.1. Arundic Acid

Arundic acid is an agent that has been used in the last two decades to inhibit S100B synthesis. Asano and colleagues used arundic acid in a rodent model of focal cerebral ischemia. S100B was overexpressed in astrocytes, leading to reactive astrogliosis along the infarct border. Arundic acid proved to be a powerful inhibitor of S100B synthesis, due to the prevention of infarct expansion and caused an amelioration of neurologic deficits⁸⁵. Another group described similar results regarding the role of arundic acid to downregulate S100B expression in an AD mouse model⁸⁶. More recently this agent was used in an embryonic gut culture system and the results showed a marked prevention of S100B developmental upregulation⁸⁷. Translating to MS research, these studies provide a promising tool that can be used to target S100B, decreasing neuroinflammation.

1.4.3.2. Pentamidine

Pentamidine is an antiprotozoal drug that binds specifically to S100B blocking the interaction with tumor suppressor p53. It has been proved that pentamidine can cause the reduction of S100B, its respective receptor (RAGE) engagement, and proinflammatory cytokine expression⁵². In this way, it was possible to impair neuroinflammation in an AD mouse model⁵². Furthermore, using an *ex vivo* demyelinating mouse model, it was showed that pentamidine is able to prevent both demyelination and inflammation, and even reinforce remyelination⁷². *In vivo* studies were also performed using pentamidine. In EAE animal model of MS, the use of this S100B-binding molecule decreased disease clinical score, enabling a faster recovery. The degree of demyelination and glia reactivity were also reduced, seen in the brain and spinal cord, along with lower values of Inflammation^{88,89}. These promising results show the potential effect of pentamidine in neurodegenerative diseases, with higher relevance to MS treatment research.

1.4.3.3. Antibodies

Immunoglobulins, also known as antibodies, are used to target desired molecules, as the case of S100B or RAGE. Regarding structure, antibodies present a Y-shaped form and are produced mainly by B cells. Upon demyelination induction in an *ex vivo* model, using organotypic cerebellar slices, the incubation with anti-S100B antibody, neutralized the S100B effect, reducing demyelination values as well as preventing astrocyte reactivity and pro-inflammatory cytokines and inflammasome molecules expression¹⁹.

1.4.3.4. A promising approach using Nanobodies

Produced by llamas or camels, single domain antibodies or even nanobodies (Nb), can exert inhibitory, agonistic, or antagonistic roles depending on the targeted molecule, through the recognition of a certain epitope or antigen⁹⁰. However, several different characteristics distinguish them from commonly used antibodies. Nanobodies received this nomenclature due to the relatively small molecular size (15kDa)⁹¹. Corresponding to the N-terminal variable domain of the heavy chain-only antibody (VHH), is homologous to the variable domain of IgG antibody heavy chain (VH) **(Figure 1.5)**. A Nb is composed

by a folded β -sheet with three loops in the regions homologous to the complementaritydetermining region (CDR3) of the IgG VH domains⁹⁰. The need to find more molecules, with more advantages and capable to generate better results, was the leading force to the development of these nanoparticles. The extreme specificity to recognize unique epitopes in a subnanomolar scale, the higher affinity, stability and solubility, the resistance upon extreme pH levels, temperature fluctuations, and several different chemical environments, as well as the reduced immunogenicity and toxicity, are some of the benefits that this molecule brings to science, contrasting to the commonly used antibodies^{57,92}. These nanoparticles can have very different applications, from studying enzyme mechanism, the inhibition or activation of protein functions via protein-protein interaction modulation, perturbation of protein aggregation, even to the interference with the immune system⁹⁰. Some of these features are directly breaking apart certain difficulties found in MS research. The smaller size, higher solubility, and isoelectric point (pI) allow an easier entrance into CNS, through BBB, as seen in healthy and pathological conditions^{93–97}, while the reduced immunogenicity due to the absence of Fc region⁹⁸, is essential since inflammation and the immune response per se are under analysis. The inhibitory properties of nanobodies are very promising regarding medicine applications as well as for disease diagnosis. Nanobody-mediated S100B targeting will potentially



Figure 1.5 - Schematic representation of antibodies and nanobodies. (A) Domain structure of human IgG antibodies, (B) heavy chain only camelid antibodies, from which (C) nanobodies can be obtained. (Adapted from Arezumand et al. 2017⁹¹). Fab: Fragment antigen-binding; Fc: Fragment crystallizable region; CH: Constant domain of the heavy chain; CL: Constant domain of the light chain; VH: Variable domain of IgG antibody heavy chain; VL: Variable domain of the light chain; VHH: N-terminal variable domain of the heavy chain-only antibody; Nb: Nanobody.

allow the neutralization of S100B and consequent modulation of several proinflammatory cytokines involved in MS pathogenesis and possibly the modulation of the immune response, one if not the major challenge in MS research as well as in clinical practice.

1.5. Experimental models to study Multiple Sclerosis and S100B

The design of new therapies would not be possible without the development of experimental models that mimic as much as possible MS pathology. Mice and rats have been the most used animals to create similar MS characteristics, since are easily to manipulate and are phylogenetically closer to humans, increasing translational potential. In MS research, different animal models have been used to study inflammation, autoimmunity, demyelination and remyelination, some better than others, depending on which is the main subject being analyzed, although there is no perfect model that comprises all MS features⁹⁹. The main used models are subdivided into *in vivo* or *ex vivo* groups. In vivo models reach closer to human disease features, involving the entire organism and the interplay between organs, tissues and cells makes them more appealing to use, although they are expensive and rises more ethical concerns. In the other hand, ex vivo models provide us tools such as easily manipulation of the experimental conditions without many ethical concerns as in vivo, although a slightly altered environment prevent the interplay between tissues and organs^{99–101}. Additionally, different transgenic mice are also used, not as an MS animal model, but useful regarding the study of different specific players that can play a role in MS pathology.

1.5.1. In Vivo models

The use of different *in vivo* models to study MS has been of vital importance to understand its complex pathogenesis since there is high variability among patients regarding the etiology of the disease. To explore different molecular mechanisms and develop new therapies, different animal models have been developed, however, no single experimental model is capable to represent all the complex heterogeneity of clinical, pathological, and immunological characteristics of the disease. Divided into three main categories, MS animal models can be:

- 1. Autoimmune and inflammatory models, such as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE).
- Virus-induced demyelination as the case of both Theiler's murine encephalitis virus (TMEV) and mouse hepatitis virus (MHV).
- 3. Toxin-induced models, including cuprizone, lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) and ethidium bromide toxic models.

1.5.1.1. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)

The most used and versatile animal model is EAE, an autoimmune model, characterized by T-cell and monocyte infiltration in the CNS, associated with local inflammation, demyelination, axonal loss, and gliosis. EAE is particularly used to study myelin destruction, neuroinflammation, and immune system activation. To induce this model, an active immunization is performed with complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) assistance, through subcutaneous injections, containing peptides derived from myelin proteins such as myelin proteolipid protein (PLP), myelin OL glycoprotein (MOG) and myelin basic protein (MBP). Therefore, activation of peripheral antigen-specific T cells occurs, allowing these cells to set an immune reactivity against myelin antigens and develop the disease. CFA alone can induce inflammatory processes, immune system activation and a partial BBB permeability, although when pertussis toxin is added, a more severe CNS infiltration occurs and a more consistent form of the disease is obtained¹⁰². Another way to induce EAE is to inject lymphocytes derived from EAE animals to naive ones, often described as passive immunization^{99,103}. Many of the drugs used today by MS patients were developed, tested or validated based on EAE studies, including glatiramer acetate, mitoxantrone, and natalizumab^{104,105}. It is of extreme importance to choose the best model at the time of experiment planning. Even so, although several therapeutic approaches showed encouraging results in preclinical studies, they failed and some even caused harm when used in humans¹⁰⁶.

1.5.1.2. Virus-induced model

As previously described in **1.2 - Epidemiology**, viruses can take place in MS pathology such as EBV infection. Due to this fact, virus-induced MS animal models were also developed

and are capable to induce MS-like pathogenesis. The most known is TMEV, belonging to the single-stranded RNA picornaviruses, a mouse enteric pathogen capable to cause paralysis and encephalomyelitis. TMEV has two main groups: 1) a highly virulent strain which causes fatal encephalitis and 2) a much less virulent strain. The latter can develop a monophasic and persistent neurologic disease as well as a biphasic form, capable to reproduce chronic demyelinating lesions, being the one used as a chronic-progressive MS animal model¹⁰³. TMEV can infect macrophages as well as CNS glial cells^{107–110}, during the period of chronic phases. The similarities to human MS as well as the autoimmune response initiated by a viral infection in the CNS are the main features that make this model attractive to study axonal damage, inflammatory-induced demyelination and the determination of immunomodulatory effects on de- and remyelination therapies^{111–113}. Even so, it is a difficult model to implement due to the higher variability, intrinsic to each animal used, low standardization, higher mortality rate in infected animals and the safety concerns to manipulate virulent virus strains¹¹⁴.

1.5.1.3. Toxin-induced model

As listed above, the third MS animal model is toxin-induced, very useful to identify new possible therapies, through the unraveling of the mechanisms underlying de- and remyelination¹¹⁵, a complement to EAE studies, in which remyelination occurs in a small rate. Metabolic processes implicated in myelin/OL destruction and repair represent essential data, obtainable from this MS model^{116,117}. Demyelination can be induced with different compounds, among them, lysolecithin, also known as lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC), and cuprizone are the most used. Demyelination may be elicited by local administration into the CNS white matter via stereotactic surgery or systemic administration and may be used in *ex vivo* models as will be further described.

Lysolecithin is a molecule with detergent-like properties, with particular toxicity to OLs¹¹⁸, capable to insert itself into the myelin lipidic membrane¹¹⁹, form micelles¹²⁰, convert into lysophosphatidic acid and consequently disturb myelin sheaths structure^{99,115}. It is worth mentioning that, in controlled conditions, OL viability, axonal and other cellular components are not altered or compromised during the process of demyelination induction¹²¹. Moreover, LPC enhances phospholipase A2 activity, increasing the

degradation rate of membrane phosphatidylcholine, a major constituent of myelin^{122–124}. After the demyelination process, and as a consequence, T and B cells, microglia and macrophages are recruited to the lesion, initiating the inflammatory process^{102,125}. Reactive astrogliosis, axonal instability, and OPCs proliferation and migration are also visible in this model¹²⁶. The good reproducibility and well-defined location of the demyelinated areas allow this toxin-induced model to be an outstanding method to study demyelination and remyelination¹²⁷.

Cuprizone model also has mature OLs as the main target, inducing demyelination in a different way than LPC. This toxin is a copper chelator, that when administered promotes copper deficiency. Even though the mechanism is not fully known, it causes specific OL death by disturbing cellular metabolism and subsequent demyelination, without affecting other CNS cells. Animals are fed with 0.2 % cuprizone mixed in chow from 4 to 6 weeks, causing dysfunction on mitochondria, toxicity of OLs inducing substantial demyelination throughout the brain. After this period, the administration of cuprizone is stopped, allowing this way to the differentiation of OPCs into mature OLs, and consequently, the formation of new myelin sheaths to denuded axons¹²⁸. This model is used to discern the underlying mechanisms associated with OL death, OPC migration, differentiation and at last remyelination, although the immune system interaction is absent¹²⁹.

1.5.2. *Ex Vivo* models

Research in organs, tissues or cells, obtained from living organisms, have been used for decades as an alternative to *in vivo* assays. *Ex vivo* models allow the control of certain conditions in animal experimentation that would be harder to manage in living animals, with the disadvantage of the slightly altered environment. One of the strengths of these models is the possibility to perform certain tests, for example, therapeutic candidates screening, that could not be possible or even not allowed by ethical issues. With the purpose to analyze different morphological and physiological aspects of brain cells including neurons, OLs, microglia and astrocytes, all of them involved in MS pathology, cerebellar organotypic slice cultures (COSCs) are a resourceful method to perform it.

1.5.2.1. Organotypic slice culture

Considered an important method to reproduce in vivo-like characteristics, organotypic slice cultures have been used as an intermediate technique between animal models and cell cultures, in which the three-dimensional architecture of brain environment is maintained and subsequently the contact between the different CNS cells persists^{139–141}. Therefore, the preservation of structural features, neuronal connectivity, and electrical and biochemical pathways, makes possible the analysis of processes, such as de- and remyelination as well as the inflammatory response mediated by microglia and astrocytes¹⁴², main players in MS pathology. Altogether, these elements make this method a suitable system to explore cell physiology as well as environmental interactions regarding glial and neuronal cells response, under neurodegenerative conditions as the case of myelin damage¹⁴¹. In other aspects, some limitations must be considered when analyzing data. Both astrocytes and microglia have been described to have a strong response when CNS damage takes place, which also happens in the course of slice preparation, including increased proliferation at injury spots and subsequently the formation of glial scar¹⁴¹. Another negative component, in contrast to EAE¹⁴³, is the absence of immune activity, the main player in MS, since both lymphatic and circulatory systems were lost during slice preparation. Even so, the presence of glial cells and extracellular matrix is an advantage comparing to the co-culture of dissociated cells, which lacks these two components, known to be important in the development, maintenance, and physiology of OLs and myelin¹⁴¹.

Regarding preparation, slices ranging from 100 µm to 400 µm can be obtained using a microtome¹⁴⁰, thereafter the slices are placed above semi-permeable membranes, with a pore size large enough to allow metabolic substrates and neurotrophic factors to diffuse, as well pharmacological molecules present in the culture medium¹⁴⁴. Depending on the brain region cultured, including spinal cord¹⁴⁵ and brain regions such as cerebellum¹⁴⁴, forebrain¹¹⁴, and hippocampus¹⁴⁶ different parameters can be observed, for example, the homogeneity of axon types present in cerebellum, compared with spinal cord axonal variety¹¹⁴. In MS research the most common to be used is the cerebellum since it comprises more white matter with specific detectable tracts rather than other brain regions^{100,147}. Similar to the method described previously in **1.5.1.3 – Toxin-induced**

19

model, LPC can be added to the medium and induce demyelination without neuronal damage, if in a short period. After a transient demyelinating insult, the cultures recover, however not entirely due to the limited remyelination capacity¹⁴⁸.

1.5.3. Transgenic mice

Different transgenic mice are also used in research, for both in vivo and ex vivo studies, being very useful to explore different crucial players from specific diseases, as is the case of S100B in MS pathology. Even though S100B does play an important role in CNS development²⁶, different transgenic mice that overexpressed this specific protein, presented several disruptive features upon challenge. This includes an increased degree of brain damage and periinfarct reactive gliosis (astrocytosis and microgliosis) after permanent focal ischemia¹³⁰ as well as an increased susceptibility to perinatal hypoxiaischemia¹³¹; higher amyloidosis and gliosis in an AD mouse model¹³²; problems concerning learning and memory¹³³, accompanied by electrophysiological disturbances in the hippocampus¹³⁴ among other poorer results when comparing to wildtype mice groups. In the other way, S100B knockout mice have already presented insightful results where it proves that the lack of S100B in the brain can be deleterious promoting epileptogenesis¹³⁵ as well as blood-brain barrier permeability and neuron-binding autoantibodies in an age-dependent manner¹³⁶. Nevertheless, S100B depletion did not affect cerebellar development¹³⁷, a very important aspect that in this way do not compromise cerebellar studies, as is the case of the present dissertation. Interestingly, an AD mouse model study brought together three different mice regarding S100B expression: S100B-overexpressing mice; wildtype mice; and S100B knockout mice¹³⁸. Contrasting to wildtype and S100B knockout groups, S100B-overexpressing mice group did present very adverse results where glia activation, neuroinflammation, neuronal damage and the loss of several synaptic markers took place, denoting once again the pejorative role of S100B on brain homeostasis or even a worse outcome when mimicking different diseases.

2. Motivation

MS is a neurodegenerative disease for which there is still no cure, only treatments capable to slow down its normal progression. The patient, with the course of the disease, is no more than a spectator with a few possible options to combat this invisible disease that rises deep within. The necessity of different types of assistance, as well as the reduction of quality of life, transform this disease into a nightmare. What people in the health field have done concerning this specific disease, was not only the improvement of the quality of life through different ways, but also the development of new therapeutic strategies, in order to achieve a cure or a level at which the disease progress in much lower fashion. Our group has shown an increased interest in this field over the past years and made several new insights in MS research. S100B protein has captivated our attention in the way as it affects demyelination, oligodendrogenesis, and glial reactivity, most often by the detrimental side.

Beholding the fact that S100B was found upregulated in the CSF of MS patients at the time of diagnosis, our group started to focus on this biomarker with the main goal to develop possible therapeutic strategies. To do this, our group started to uncover some S100B features, using cerebellar organotypic slice cultures (COSC), an *ex vivo* model of demyelination. Analogous to the values found in the CSF from patients, these cultures showed an increase in S100B expression upon a demyelinating insult, elicited by LPC. Additionally, the use of an S100B-directed antibody caused a significant reduction in the degree of demyelination, astroglial reactivity as well as the expression of first-line cytokines and inflammasome-related molecules¹⁹.

Further, making use of primary OL cell cultures, was demonstrated that high concentrations of S100B led to oligodendrogenesis impairment, which was abolished by an antagonist for S100B receptor RAGE the FPS-ZM1²⁶. After that, in a more complex

environment using COSCs, RAGE antagonist demonstrated again beneficial effects upon LPC-induced demyelination, such as the correct OPC differentiation and maturation, the prevention of astrogliosis, inflammation, and even neuronal impairment²⁶.

In the same *ex vivo* model, another S100B-targeted protein, pentamidine, also proved to be valuable since prevented demyelination and the exacerbated expression of proinflammatory cytokines⁷². Increasing both complexity and translational power, *in vivo* studies are underway using pentamidine. In EAE animal model of MS, the use of this S100B-binding molecule decreased disease clinical score, enabling a faster recovery. The degree of demyelination and glia reactivity were also reduced in both brain and spinal cord, along with lower values of inflammation^{88,89}.

All these past results showed that different molecules are capable to diminish S100Brelated neurotoxic effects, although, when looking to clinical applicability they may impose some difficulties. Thus, the opportunity to test new small molecules with different remarking advantages as the Nanobodies, urge as a new promising area of study.

3. Aims

The main objective of this study is to better understand S100B-related effects upon LPCinduced demyelination and if by neutralizing this molecule with nanobody-based therapy we could prevent MS-associated pathogenesis. To do so we subdivided the experimental procedure in two specific objectives:

- First, we analysed how S100B depletion would possibly abolish respective neurotoxic effects in the *ex vivo* demyelinating model, commonly used in our lab.
 For this to happen, we used COSCs from three different mice: wild type; heterozygotic (S100B +/-); and knockout mice (S100B -/-). The LPC-induced demyelination takes place within 18 h and after a period of recovery, we assessed S100B expression, demyelination, oligodendrogenesis, and the inflammatory events.
- Secondly, we evaluated whether the neutralization of S100B, using three different nanobodies, could prevent the pathogenesis observed in the *ex vivo* demyelinating model. To do so, we used COSCs from C57BL/6 wild type mice and induced the LPC insult for demyelination to occur. Along with LPC insult, some cultures were treated with three different nanobodies as well with pentamidine and S100B-directed antibody (already tested by our lab) separately, to compare results. After a 30 h period of recovery, S100B expression, demyelination degree, oligodendrogenesis, glial reactivity, and inflammatory-related molecules were evaluated.

4. Material and Methods

4.1. Animals

To perform the ex vivo studies, we used pups with 10 days (P10) from C57BL/6 wild type (WT) mice, as well as from a S100B knockout (S100B -/-) mice and from a S100B heterozygotic (S100B +/-) mice on a B6JTyr;B6N-S100b^{tm1a(EUCOMM)Wtsi}/Wtsi genetic background. The colonies were established on Instituto de Medicina Molecular João Lobo Antunes (IMM, Lisbon, Portugal) and the genotyping was done using PCR, in which 3 pairs of primers were used to amplify different DNA regions according to manufacturer's instructions (Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute, Hinxton Cambridge, UK). The animals used in these experiments were kept in a controlled environment (21 °C and 55-67% humidity in a 12 h light/dark cycles) and were fed with food and water *ad libitum*. Animal care followed the recommendations of the European Convention for the Protection of Vertebrate Animals Used for Experimental and other Scientific Purposes (Council Directive 86/609/EEC) and National Law 1005/92 (rules for the protection of experimental animals). All the procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and the national animal affairs regulatory office (Direção Geral de Alimentação e Veterinária). The best efforts were made to minimize the number of animals used and their suffering.

4.2. Ex vivo model of demyelination

In order to assess the role of S100B and S100B-targeting nanobodies in a demyelination situation, we used an established protocol in which cerebellar organotypic slice cultures (COSC) were treated with lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC)^{19,148}. Cerebellar parasagittal slices were obtained from postnatal day 10 (P10) mice as described above. Following decapitation, the cerebella were isolated from brains in phosphate buffered saline (PBS),

to which 400 µm sagittal slices were obtained using a McIlwain tissue chopper. To maximize the results, all the optimal slices were transferred into membrane culture inserts with 0.4 μm pores (BD Falcon). Four slices, from different mice, were put together in each insert, in a 6-well cell culture plates, containing 1 mL of medium per well and were kept at 37 °C, in 5% CO₂ controlled atmosphere. The first slice culture medium (Medium 1) used in the experiment, consisted in 50% minimal essential media (MEM; Gibco), 25% heat-inactivated horse serum (Gibco), 25% Earl's balanced salt solution (SIGMA), 6.5 mg/mL glucose, 25 mM 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES) (Biochrom AG), and 1% of both L-glutamine (Sigma-Aldrich) and penicillin/ streptomycin (Sigma-Aldrich), being used in the first 3 days in vitro (DIV), as illustrated in the scheme bellow (Figure 2.1). Afterwards, the medium was completely replaced by a new serumfree media (Medium 2), composed by 98% Neurobasal-A (Gibco), 2% B-27 (Gibco), 36 mM glucose, 25 mM HEPES, 2 mM L-glutamine and 1% U/mL penicillin/streptomycin, to improve neuronal viability and functionality. Half media were replaced every day and slices were maintained for 7 DIV, letting myelination and the clearance of debris to occur, before demyelination induction. To address the first aim, following 7 DIV, slices derived from WT, S100B -/- and S100B +/- mice were exposed to LPC (0.5 mg/mL in serum-free



Figure 2.1 - Schematic representation of COSC culture and treatment timepoints . Four cerebellar slices of different animals were placed into a membrane culture in a 6-well cell culture plates, containing 1 mL of the first culture medium (Medium 1) at 37 °C, in a 5% CO₂ controlled atmosphere. At 4 DIV the media was completely removed and replaced by a serum-free media (Medium 2) until 7 DIV. Half of the media was replaced every day. At this timepoint, slices were incubated with LPC (10 μ L/mL) to induce demyelination for 18 h, as well as with different treatments when assessing S100B-targeting molecules efficacy. After the period of 18 h, the LPC-containing medium was completely removed and the same medium was replaced, now in the absence of LPC for additional 30 h. When assessing S100B-targeting molecules efficacy, the different treatments were maintained in the 30 h period.

culture media), a demyelinating agent. Following 18 h, the media were collected for ELISA, and new serum-free media replaced and maintained up to 48 h. By 9 DIV, the slices were: (1) prepared for RNA and protein extraction, frozen in RiboZol[™] reagent, at -20 °C or (2) fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for immunohistochemistry assays. To address the second aim, assay S100B-targeting molecules efficacy, slices were incubated with LPC in the presence of three different nanobodies (6 nM) and two molecules already tested by our group, Pentamidine (5 mg/mL) and an S100B-directed antibody (1:1000). All assayed molecules were maintained in new serum-free media during recovery period until 48 h post demyelination induction.

The Nanobodies directed to S100B were developed by Professor Claudio Gomes, Faculty of Sciences, University of Lisbon, and the three nanobodies were chosen based on their ability to specifically bind to S100B dimer and tetramer although with different dissociation constants (K_D). Nanobody 2 binds to S100B dimer and tetramer with a $K_D \approx 1$ mM, and Nanobody 16 binds to S100B dimer with a $K_D \approx 0.6$ mM and tetramer with a $K_D \approx 0.2$ mM. Concerning Nanobody 17, the K_D were still not determined.

4.3. Total RNA Extraction and qRealTime-PCR

To evaluate gene expression of several genes of interest, total RNA was extracted from 9 DIV COSC, applying RiboZolTM reagent method, under the recommended conditions (VWR Life Science). In brief, each slice was individually macerated with a power homogenizer to dissociate the tissue, followed by a process of phase separation, RNA precipitation, washing and finally respective dissolving in RNase-free water. NanoDrop ND-100 Spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies) was used to quantify RNA concentration. Samples with 1000 ng of RNA was reversely transcribed into complementary DNA (cDNA), using Xpert cDNA synthesis mastermix kit protocol (GRISP), manufacturer's according to the instructions. Quantitative RealTime-PCR (qRealTime-PCR) was subsequently performed to quantify the expression levels of several genes, in which β -actin was used as an housekeeping gene to normalize the expression of first-line cytokines: tumour necrosis factor α (TNF- α), interleukin 1 β (IL-1 β) and interleukin 10 (IL-10); inflammasome-related molecules: S100B, high-mobility group box protein 1 (HMGB1), toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), receptor for advanced glycation end-products (RAGE); and for OL lineage cells: myelin basic protein (MBP), and neuron glia antigen 2 (NG2). Real-time PCR detection system (Applied Biosystems 7300 Fast Real-Time PCR System) was used to perform qRealTime-PCR, using Xpert Fast SYBR mastermix (GRISP). The loading was performed in a 384-well plate in which duplicates were done to each sample, including a no-template control (NTC) as a negative control. The primers' sequences are listed in the **Table 1**. The PCR cycle conditions were previously optimized as follows: 50 °C for 2 min, 95 °C for 10 min followed by 40 cycles at 95 °C for 15 sec and 62 °C for 1 min.

The analysis of gene expression was performed using Pfaffl modification of the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct equation. This equation represents the number of cycles at which the fluorescence reaches the threshold levels of detection (CT). The values of each sample were normalized to the endogenous gene, β -actin, using the 2 - $\Delta\Delta$ Ct equation. For each sample, the Δ Ct was calculated by the difference between the gene of interest Ct value and the mean of β -actin Ct value. Afterwards, $\Delta\Delta$ Ct value of each sample was measured through the difference between each sample Δ Ct and the Δ Ct from the sample defined as reference, in this case the slices that were not incubated with LPC as well as any treatment.

Cana	Primer				
Gene	Forward	Reverse			
β-actin	gctccggcatgtgcaa	aggatcttcatgaggtagt			
HMGB1	ctcagagaggtggaagaccatgt	gggatgtaggttttcatttctctttc			
IL-1β	caggctccgagatgaacaac	ggtggagagctttcagctcata			
IL-10	atgctgcctgctcttactga	gcagctctaggagcatgtgg			
RAGE	ttcacgacgaagttccaaacaggt	gttctaggaggactggggtg			
S100B	tgtagaccctaacccggagg	tgcatggatgaggaaggcat			
TLR4	acctggctggtttacacgtc	gtgccagagacattgcagaa			
TNF-α	tactgaacttcggggtgattggtcc	cagccttgtcccttgaagagaacc			
MBP	ccatccaagaagaccccaca	cccctgtcaccgctaaagaa			
NG2	gggctgtgctgtctgttga	tgattcccttcagctaaggca			

Table 1 - List of primers used in gRealTime-PCR assay

HMGB1 - High-mobility group box protein 1; IL- Interleukin; RAGE - Receptor for advanced glycation end-products; TLR4 - Toll-like receptor 4; TNF- α - Tumour necrosis factor α ; MBP - Myelin basic protein; NG2 - Neuron glia antigen 2

4.4. Immunohistochemistry

With the purpose to stain and evaluate different cellular and molecular elements such as myelin degradation and glial and astrocytic reactivity through confocal microscopy, 9 DIV COSC were fixated with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 1 h at room temperature. After the fixation period, the slices were washed 3 times with PBS solution and kept at 4 °C until the immunostaining procedure. The immunostaining procedure per se consisted in the removal of a slice per insert, through membrane sectioning, and incubation with blocking solution (1 nM HEPES, 2% heat-inactivated horse serum, 10% heat-inactivated goat serum, 1% BSA and 0.25 % Triton X-100 in Hank's balanced salt solution) in a cover glass for 3 h at room temperature. The slices were then incubated with designated primary antibodies, diluted in blocking solution for 48 h, at 4 °C. The slices were then washed 3 times for 20 min each, with washing solution PBS-T (PBS with 0.01 % Triton X-100). This process was followed by an overnight period of incubation with secondary antibodies in blocking solution at 4 °C. The primary and secondary antibodies used are listed in Table 2-3. After secondary antibody incubation the washing process was repeated as described previously, and slices incubated with DAPI (1:1000) to stain the nuclei for 3 min and washed 3 times with washing solution. To prepare the slice to fluorescence/confocal microscopy, Fluoromount-G (Southern Biotech, Birmingham, AL, USA) was used. The images were obtained by Leica DMi8-CS inverted microscope with Leica LAS X software. ImageJ (Fiji Is Just) software was used to process the images.

Primary antibodies							
Marker	Target	Host	Dilution	Brand	Reference Number		
МВР	Mature oligodendrocytes	Rat	1:200	Biorad	aa82-87		
QD9	Decompacted myelin	Mouse	1:100	AbNova	MAB8817		
GFAP	Astrocytes	Mouse	1:100	NovoCastra	GFAP-GA5- 6035278		
lba-1	Microglia	Rabbit	1:250	Wako	019-19741		

Table 2 - List of primary antibodies used for immunohistochemistry procedures.Marker, respective target,antibody host, dilution used, brand and reference number are indicated.

MBP – Myelin basic protein; GFAP – Glial fibrillary acidic protein; Iba-1 – Ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule 1

Secondary Antibodies							
Antibody	Target	Host	Dilution	Brand	Reference Number		
Alexa 488 anti-mouse	Mouse antibodies	Goat	1:1000	Invitrogen	A10680		
Alexa 488 anti-rabbit	Rabbit antibodies	Goat		Invitrogen	A11008		
Alexa 594 anti-rat	Rat antibodies	Donkey		Invitrogen	A21209		
Alexa 594 anti-mouse	Mouse antibodies	Goat		Invitogen	A11005		
Alexa 594 anti-rabbit	Rabbit antibodies	Goat		Invitrogen	A111012		

 Table 3 - List of secondary antibodies used for immunohistochemistry procedures.
 Marker, respective target, antibody host, dilution used, brand and reference number are indicated.

Approximately 20 z-stacks were taken per slice, obtaining different depths of the tissue, from which the ones that had measurable immunoreactivity were merged, reducing possible variations in image acquisition. Focusing on the medullary laminae (branched myelinated fibers) as well as the surrounding granular and grey layers, demyelination, astrogliosis and microglia reactivity were examined.

4.5. Western blot

Protein expression was also evaluated to be combined with gene expression values. Total protein isolation was performed from RiboZolTM treated samples, using the organic phase following chloroform-based phase separation. After protein extraction, total protein quantifications were measured using BCA protein assay kit under manufacture's guidelines (PierceTM BCA Protein Assay, ThermoFisher Scientific), and stored at -80 °C. Western blot sample were then prepared with a buffer containing 0.25 M Tris-base (pH 6.8), 4% (w/v) sodium dodecyl sulphate, 40% (v/v) glycerol, 0.2 % (w/v) bromophenol blue and 1% (v/v) β -mercaptoethanol following by denaturation for 5 minutes at 100 °C. The samples were then loaded into a Tris-Tricine gel and subsequently transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham Biosciences). A blocking solution [1% Tween 20-Tris buffered saline (T-TBS) in 5% (w/v) non-fat milk] were added to membranes for 1 h at room temperature. The next step was to incubate the membranes with the primary antibody overnight at 4 °C. Membranes were then washed and incubated with the same blocking solution used before with the secondary antibody for 1 h at room temperature.

The antibodies used are listed in **Table 4** and **Table 5**. Protein bands were detected using WesternBright Sirius reagent (Advansta) for 1 min and visualized using Using ChemiDoc[™] (Bio-Rad Laboratories) equipment. Bands were quantified with ImageLab[™] software (Bio-Rad Laboratories) and respective relative intensities normalized to total protein Amidoblack[®] staining.

Table 4 - List of primary antibodies used in western blot procedures. Marker, respective target, a	antibody
host, dilution used, brand and reference number are indicated.	

Primary antibodies						
Marker	Target	Host	Dilution	Brand	Reference Number	
МВР	Mature oligodendrocytes	Mouse	1:800	Millipore	MAB387	
NG2	Immature oligodendrocytes	Rabbit	1:500	Millipore	AB5320	
S100B	S100B	Rabbit	1:1000	AbCam	ab52642	
RAGE	RAGE	Mouse	1:1000	Chemicon	MAB5238	
β-actin	β-actin	Mouse	1:5000	Sigma	A5441	

MBP – Myelin basic protein; NG2 – Neuron glia antigen 2; RAGE – Receptor for advanced glycation end-products

Secondary Antibodies						
Antibody	Target	Host	Dilution	Brand	Reference Number	
HRP anti-rabbit	Rabbit antibodies	Goat	1:5000	Santa Cruz	sc-2004	
HRP anti-mouse	Mouse antibodies	Goat	1:5000	Santa Cruz	sc-2005	
HRP anti-rat	Rat antibodies	Goat	1:5000	Santa Cruz	sc-2032	

Table 5 - List of secondary antibodies used in western blot procedures.Marker, respective target, antibodyhost, dilution used, brand and reference number are indicated.

4.6. S100B determination

To evaluate S100B concentration from COSC supernatants, an in-house enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) was performed. The supernatants were incubated overnight at 4 °C on a 96-well plate which was previously coated with a policional anti-S100B antibody (2.5 μg/mL, Rabbit MaxPab[®] affinity purified pAb, Absource) diluted in

blocking buffer (2% BSA in 1x PBS). The coated wells were then blocked for 2 h at room temperature with blocking buffer (2% BSA in 1x PBS). This process was followed by the application of 100 μ L of both protein standard and samples and incubated overnight at 4 °C. In the next day, a polyclonal anti-S100B antibody (1 μ g/mL, Biotinylated rabbit affinity purified pAb, Absource) diluted in diluent [2% non-fat milk in PBST (0.05 %)] was added and incubated for 2 h at room temperature. The wells were incubated with the secondary reagent (1:5000, Streptavidin-HRP, Sigma-Aldrich) for 1 h at room temperature. To perform the colorimetric reaction, TMB/E Ultra Sensitive Substrate[®] (Sigma-Aldrich) were used and measured at 450 nm in a microplate absorbance.

4.7. Statistical analysis

All results in this project are presented as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM). The differences between treatment conditions were evaluated using two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test to compare control *versus* LPC treatment. One-way ANOVA with Tukey post-test was also used when comparing more than 2 treatment conditions, using GraphPad PRISM 6 for Windows. The P values of P<0.05 were considered as being statistically significant.

5. Results

5.1. S100B expression is exacerbated after LPC-induced demyelination

The short period in which a relapse takes place combine exacerbated inflammation, demyelination, neuronal and axonal damage, OL malfunction, and reactive gliosis¹. Known to be part of this homeostatic disruption, S100B can be excessively produced and secreted by astrocytes as a response to cellular damage, reaching extracellular µM concentrations. Contrary to neuroprotective nM concentrations, toxic S100B levels may have harmful consequences in the context of cellular recovery after the insult, probably perpetuating to a certain extent the pathologic condition. After LPC-induced demyelination, this protein is known to be overexpressed and, subsequently, secreted towards extracellular space^{19,26}, which was confirmed through different techniques. With this in mind, we first evaluated S100B expression from both supernatants and tissue of COSCs, obtained from homozygotic (WT), heterozygotic (HET), and knockout (KO) S100B mice. Regarding WT cultures, the overexpression and secretion of this protein to the extracellular space was evident at 18 h after the disease-like onset when comparing to the respective control (12.27-fold, P<0.01), performed through ELISA (Figure 3.1 A). Even though, a marked decrease was noticed 48 h after LPC insult, when evaluating proteins extracted from tissue through Western blot (0.68-fold, P<0.01) (Figure 3.1 B) or S100B gene expression (0.38-fold, P<0.001) (Figure 3.1 C). Regarding HET values, organotypic cultures showed similar results to WT, however subtle variations were noticed. S100B levels in medium, 18 h after LPC insult, were elevated when compared to respective control (6.70-fold, not statistically significant), although not as much as in WT cultures, probably due to the fact that only one allele was being transcribed and subsequently translated (Figure 3.1 A). Concerning tissue-derived proteins (48 h after LPC insult), no significant differences between control and LPC-induced demyelination were detected in HET cultures, either for protein (0.62-fold) (Figure 3.1 B) or gene expression (1.0-fold) (Figure 3.1 C). At last, KO cultures did not present S100B values in either technique as expected.



Figure 3.1 - Demyelination induces a substantial release of S100B in cerebellar organotypic slice cultures. Cerebellar organotypic slice cultures (COSC) were exposed to lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) at 7 days in vitro (DIV) for 18 h. After this period, fresh medium (LPC-depleted) was replaced by fresh medium on cultures for an additional 30 h. (A) Media were collected from cultures, at 18 h post-incubation with LPC, for S100B secretion detection by ELISA. (B) Representative results of S100B expression, from organotypic tissues, at 48 h post-incubation with LPC, analysed by Western blot (top). Graph bars represent respective quantification of S100B (below). Results were normalized to total protein. (C) Relative S100B mRNA levels at 48 h post-incubation with LPC were determined by qRealTime-PCR. The results were normalized to β -actin. Results are mean ± SEM of at least n=3 per group. One-way ANOVA with Tukey post-test or t test was used to determine the statistical significance as appropriate (** P<0.01 and *** P<0.001 vs. respective control; # P<0.05 vs. respective condition in WT).

5.2. Demyelination degree is worsened in the presence of S100B

Despite the already described S100B beneficial effects on oligodendrogenesis as well as in the modulation of neurite outgrowth and others^{45,149}, after brain injury, S100B does exert pejorative roles, affecting the normal function of several brain cells, including OLs²⁶. As previously demonstrated, S100B expression is intensified after demyelination, therefore, we decided to understand how OL lineage cells were reacting upon LPC insult in COSCs, obtained from WT, HET, and KO S100B mice. For these, the transcriptional levels of immature and mature OL markers (NG2 and MBP, respectively) were evaluated by qRealTime-PCR. We observed a significant decline of MBP expression in WT cultures after LPC induction (0.75-fold, p<0.01), when comparing to the respective control, suggesting a higher degree of demyelination (Figure 3.2 A). On the other hand, HET and KO cultures maintained similar values to respective controls for both control and LPCtreated slices (~0.71-fold for HET and ~1.2-fold for KO), suggesting a lower level of demyelination in these cultures. In agreement with previous results, we observed an increased expression of NG2 (3.56-fold, not statistically significant) upon demyelination in WT cultures, suggesting that OPC proliferation and recruitment was already occurring 48 h after demyelination induction (Figure 3.2 B). Oppositely, decreased values were observed in HET and KO cultures (1.52-fold and 0.46-fold, respectively), suggestive of a decreased recruitment of OPCs given the lack of demyelinating insult.



Figure 3.2 - S100B is needed for OL damage and consequent OPC recruitment following demyelination. Cerebellar organotypic slice cultures (COSC) were exposed to lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) at 7 days in vitro (DIV) for 18 h. After this period, fresh medium (LPC-depleted) was replaced by fresh medium on cultures for additional 30 h. Then, 48 h post-incubation with LPC, samples were processed for analysis of mRNA expression. Relative (A) MBP and (B) NG2 mRNA levels were determined by qRealTime-PCR. Results were normalized to β -actin. Results are mean ± SEM of n=4 per group. One-way ANOVA with Tukey posttest or t test was used to determine the statistical significance as appropriate (** P<0.01 vs. respective control).

5.3. Pro-inflammatory profile seen in S100B WT cultures following demyelination is prevented in S100B KO cultures

Inflammation is an essential and complex biological process, imperative to overcome different types of cellular damage, as the case of demyelination, being important to improve remyelination ability. Even though, the extent of inflammation can also be detrimental to cell recovery. Astrocytic and microglial activation, along with the intensified release of proinflammatory cytokines have been described to follow LPCinduced demyelination. TNF- α and IL-1 β were reported to be released from astrocytes and microglia when S100B is overexpressed^{19,26,45}. To analyse the inflammatory profile of our ex vivo model, we measured different cytokines, inflammatory mediators, and S100B-related receptors at a transcriptional level, in the three different S100B genotypic mice. The presence of TNF- α and IL-1 β , both proinflammatory cytokines, were significantly increased in WT cultures that experienced the demyelinating process when compared to respective controls (2.41-fold, P<0.05 and 8.28-fold, P<0.0001, respectively) (Figure 3.3 A-B). Alongside, IL-10, an anti-inflammatory cytokine known to suppress TNF- α , IL-1 β , and other proinflammatory cytokines production, was also significantly increased compared to respective control (8.16-fold, P<0.05), presumably to counterbalance the inflammatory response (Figure 3.3 C). Also HMGB1, which has been associated with active inflammation and found in MS lesions, was found overexpressed in WT after LPC insult (12.65-fold, P<0.05) (Figure 3.3 D). RAGE and TLR4, known receptors for S100B and HMGB1, exhibited the same increased pattern in WT condition (14.77-fold and 5.84-fold, respectively), although not significant due to variability (Figure 3.3 E-F). Focusing on both HET and KO conditions, most of the inflammatory mediators were attenuated, with a more pronounced effect in KO cultures. HET cultures showed two different features, both pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines reached similar values to WT cultures that undergone demyelination (TNF- α 3.25-fold, IL-1 β 7.18-fold, and IL-10 15.07-fold) while HMGB1 (7.4-fold), RAGE (6.08-fold, P<0.05) and TLR4 (2.54-fold) were reduced comparing with WT cultures. In KO cultures both TNF- α and IL-1 β were downregulated when compared to demyelinated WT slices (1.36-fold and



Figure 3.3 – S100B presence worsens the inflammatory profile after LPC insult. Cerebellar organotypic slice cultures (COSC) were exposed to lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) at 7 days in vitro (DIV) for 18 h. After this period, fresh medium (LPC-depleted) was replaced by fresh medium on cultures for additional 30 h. mRNA samples were collected at 48 h post-incubation with LPC. Relative (A) TNF- α , (B) IL-1 β , (C) IL-10, (D) HMGB1, (E) RAGE and (F) TLR4 mRNA levels were determined by qRealTime-PCR. Results were normalized to β -actin. Results are mean ± SEM of at least n=5 per group. One-way ANOVA with Tukey post-test or t test was used to determine the statistical significance as appropriate (* P<0.05, ** P<0.01 and **** P<0.0001 vs. control; # P<0.05 vs. respective condition in WT; \$ P<0.05 and \$\$ P<0.01 vs. respective condition in HET).

0.44-fold, P<0.05, respectively), while IL-10 maintained similar levels comparatively to WT cultures (10.5-fold). HMGB1 gene expression also showed a reduced value (4.68-fold), along with RAGE (3.19-fold, P<0.05) and TLR 4 (1.45-fold, P<0.05), when compared to LPC-treated WT cultures. These results denote, again, the strong and pejorative effect of S100B on inflammation, altering cell homeostasis and influencing cell recovery capacity.

Extracellular high concentrations of S100B proteins have been described to result in S100B-RAGE interaction, activating, between others, the pro-inflammatory response by NF-kB^{26,150}. After cytokine profile evaluation we went further to analyse this proinflammatory pathway activation through Western blot. To assess the relative activation of this pathway, the ratio between phosphorylated NF-kB (pNF-kB) and total NF-kB was performed. Contrarily to expected, we observed that following 48 h of demyelination induction, NF-kB activation was reduced when comparing with each respective control in the three different cultures (Figure 3.4). In WT culture, the decrease was 0.31-fold (P<0.001), in HET culture 0.96-fold and KO culture with 0.74-fold, although not significant for these last cultures. These results may suggest that either we are evaluating NF-kB window of activation activation following its since already observe we





at this time-point high cytokine expression; or that cytokine induction occurs downstream the activation of another intracellular pathway. Overall, these results establish proof of principle that S100B is a crucial player in demyelination pathogenesis.

5.4. Demyelination-induced S100B expression is not affected by the assayed treatments

After confirming S100B neurotoxic effect, we aimed to target this protein using three different nanobodies with micromolar affinity against S100B, alongside with pentamidine and an S100B targeting antibody, two molecules already tested by our group^{19,72,89}. For that, COSCs from WT mice were used and different treatments assayed separately. In accordance to previous results, demyelination insult enhanced S100B protein expression and respective release to the extracellular medium 18 h after LPC insult (P<0.01) (Figure 3.5 A). Regardless of the treatment used, all cultures suffered S100B increment. Moreover, 48 h after LPC insult, protein values from tissue, as well as S100B gene expression were decreased almost in all treatments (Figure 3.5 B-C), concordant with the results previously described for WT cultures. These results point to a sequestering of S100B at the extracellular level inhibiting its interaction with the respective receptors and consequently its self-induction.



Figure 3.5 - Demyelination induces a substantial release of S100B in cerebellar organotypic slice cultures (COSC) despite of the treatment used. COSC were exposed to LPC, in the presence of each treatment separately (Pentamidine, S100B Antibody, Nanobody 2, 16 and 17), at 7 days in vitro (DIV) for 18 h. After this period, fresh medium (LPC-depleted) was replaced on cultures and treatments maintained for additional 30 h of recovery. (A) Media were collected from cultures, at 18 h post-incubation with LPC, for S100B secretion detection. (B) Representative results of S100B expression, from organotypic tissues, at 48 h post-incubation with LPC, analysed by Western blot (top). Graph bars show the respective quantification of S100B expression (below). Results were normalized to total protein. (C) Samples for analysis of mRNA expression were collected at 48 h post-incubation with LPC and S100B gene expression evaluated by qRealTime-PCR. Results were normalized to β -actin. Results are mean \pm SEM of at least n=3 per group. Oneway ANOVA with Tukey post-test or t test was used to determine the statistical significance as appropriate (* P<0.05, ** P<0.01, ***P<0.001 and ****P<0.0001 vs. control).

5.5. Nanobody treatments seem to have a potential beneficial effect on the demyelination degree caused by S100B overexpression

In our *ex vivo* model, demyelination does occur after LPC administration, although, dependent on possible treatment effects, the degree of this insult might be slightly different from non-treated cultures. To evaluate the extent of demyelination, we used two different antibodies through immunohistochemistry, one for mature OLs (MBP) and one for decompacted myelin (QD9), which is observed following demyelination. The representative results shown in **Figure 3.6**, demonstrate that in non-treated slices there

is a marked reduction of MBP staining (red) and increased staining of QD9 (green) upon LPC administration, indicating a high degree of demyelination. Interestingly, although following LPC insult we still see a marked QD9 staining in slices treated with pentamidine and both Nanobody 2 and 17, the MBP positive myelin tracts are maintained, suggesting a preservation of myelin branch structures. Furthermore, Nanobody 16, from all treatments, appears to be the one with less decompacted myelin, also suggesting a lower degree of demyelination. After demyelination induction, we also analysed two different OL lineage markers to evaluate the oligodendrogenesis ability. MBP and NG2 were used for mature OLs and OPC, respectively. After 48 h post-injection with LPC, is possible to observe that MBP values decreased significantly upon demyelination in non-treated



Figure 3.6 – The degree of demyelination in COSCs is apparently lower following nanobody treatment. COSC were exposed to LPC, in the presence of each treatment separately (Pentamidine, S100B Antibody, Nanobody 2, 16 and 17), at 7 days in vitro (DIV) for 18 h. After this period, fresh medium (LPC-depleted) was replaced on cultures and treatments maintained for additional 30 h of recovery. Double immunostainings were performed in slices fixed at 48 h for mature OLs (anti-MBP antibody, red) and for decompacted myelin (anti-QD9 antibody, green), and representative images are shown.

cultures (0.75-fold, P<0.01), while in each different treatment this accentuated reduction, comparing with respective control, was not verified, except for pentamidine treatment, indicating a higher maintenance of mature OL state even with OL damage (Figure 3.7 A). Considering now NG2 expression, consistent with decreased MBP values in non-treated cultures, these higher values (3.56-fold, not statistically significant) suggest that OPCs were being recruited and proliferating, to help posteriorly on the recovery from the insult (Figure 3.7 B). Curiously these higher NG2 expression was maintained even following pentamidine and S100B antibody, but much reduced in the presence of the nanobodies, namely for Nanobody 2 and 17 (1.71-fold and 0.62-fold, respectively), suggesting a lower necessity of OPC recruitment, and reinforcing the nanobodies efficacy in reducing the S100B neurotoxic effect.



Figure 3.7 – S100B neurotoxic effect change the expression of OL lineage cells-associated genes, which may be partially prevented by Nanobodies treatment. COSC were exposed to LPC, in the presence of each treatment separately (Pentamidine, S100B Antibody, Nanobody 2, 16 and 17), at 7 days in vitro (DIV) for 18 h. After this period, fresh medium (LPC-depleted) was replaced on cultures and treatments maintained for additional 30 h of recovery. Samples for mRNA expression analysis were collected at 48 h post-incubation with LPC. Relative (A) MBP and (B) NG2 mRNA levels were determined by qRealTime-PCR. Results were normalized to β -actin. Results are mean ± SEM of n=4 per group. One-way ANOVA with Tukey post-test or t test was used to determine the statistical significance as appropriate (** P<0.01 vs. control).

5.6. Astrocytic structure loss following demyelination is prevented by nanobodies

CNS injuries are known to be followed by a large set of homeostatic unbalances, affecting different cells. Astrocytes and microglia, CNS resident immune cells, undergo both morphological and functional changes, forming the glial scar. With the purpose to unravel astrocytic changes, an antibody against glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP, an astrocytic
specific marker) was used. Typically, higher values of GFAP staining indicate higher astrocytic reactivity, commonly seen in pathological conditions. Nevertheless, LPC-induced demyelination can also cause astrocytic structure loss, as observed in our experiments when compared to the characteristic ramified morphology seen in control, probably due to cellular death (Figure 3.8). Curiously, it seems that, besides S100B antibody and Nanobody 2, all the other treatments were effective in preserving astrocyte morphology, although we may identify an increased GFAP expression in the presence of Pentamidine and Nanobody 17, which may highlight a potential astrogliosis. Further experiments need to be performed to further clarify these astrocytic changes.



Figure 3.8 - S100B neutralization by Pentamidine and Nanobodies 16 and 17 prevents astrocytic structure loss in the course of demyelination. COSC were exposed to LPC, in the presence of each treatment separately (Pentamidine, S100B Antibody, Nanobody 2, 16 and 17), at 7 days in vitro (DIV) for 18 h. After this period, fresh medium (LPC-depleted) was replaced on cultures and treatments maintained for additional 30 h of recovery. Immunohistochemistry was performed in slices fixed at 48 h for astrocytes, using an anti-glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP, green) antibody and representative images shown from at least n=3 per group.

Moreover, astrocytes are thought to recruit microglia, the CNS macrophages, to the lesion site, playing a pivotal role phagocytosing myelin debris and creating an optimal microenvironment for repair. This process is a fundamental step preceding remyelination, since the presence of myelin debris difficult the normal OPC differentiation^{27–30}. In **Figure 3.9**, microglia seems to be homogeneously distributed in control cultures, while in demyelinated cultures it may be observed a subtle migration towards damaged myelin branches or myelin debris. Consistent with this migration, colocalization between microglia and myelin is observable in cultures treated with Pentamidine or S100B antibody after LPC insult, which suggests that microglia may be clearing myelin debris, and potentially increasing remyelination capacity. Regarding

nanobodies treatment we were only able to analyse the effect of Nanobody 16 and 17, due to technical issues, and it seems that microglia staining is reduced following demyelination in the presence of both nanobodies. These results must be further confirmed with new experiments.



Figure 3.9 – Microglia seems to migrate towards myelin tracts upon demyelination and possibly phagocytose myelin debris. COSC were exposed to LPC, in the presence of each treatment separately (Pentamidine, S100B Antibody, Nanobody 16 and 17), at 7 days in vitro (DIV) for 18 h. After this period, fresh medium (LPC-depleted) was replaced on cultures and treatments maintained for additional 30 h of recovery. Double immunostainings were performed in slices fixed at 48 h for microglia using anti-ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule-1 (Iba-1, green) antibody and for mature OLs an anti-myelin basic protein (MBP, red) antibody, and representative images are shown.

5.7. Nanobody 17 seems to revert the pro-inflammatory profile seen following LPC-induced demyelination

In the previous results, we reported that S100B absence in KO cultures did appease the proinflammatory profile found in WT cultures, probably increasing cell recover capacity, maintaining the inflammatory values close to homeostatic conditions to levels similar to those found in cultures that did not suffered demyelination. With this in mind, we further analysed possible fluctuations of gene expression from several inflammatory-related molecules when incubated with the different S100B neutralizing treatments (Figure 3.10). As previously shown, demyelination elicits gene expression of TNF- α (2.41-fold, P<0.05), IL-1β (8.28-fold, P<0.0001), alongside with IL-10 (8.16-fold, P<0.05) and HMGB1 (12.65-fold, P<0.05). Also, the S100B receptors are highly expressed as indicated by the increased levels of RAGE (18.53-fold, P<0.05) and TLR4 (4.52-fold) upon demyelination. In a global perspective, the different treatments showed interesting results, promoting a downregulation of both proinflammatory cytokines, TNF- α and IL-1 β . As Pentamidine (TNF- α 0.6-fold, P<0.01 and IL-1 β 3.06-fold, P<0.05) and S100B Antibody (TNF- α 0.49-fold, P<0.01 and IL-1 β 4.78-fold, not statistically significant), the three nanobodies provoked a reduction in the expression of TNF- α (Nb2 1.31-fold; Nb16 1.12-fold, P<0.05; and Nb17 1.7-fold) and IL-1β (Nb2 5.33-fold; Nb16 3.29-fold, P<0.05; and Nb17 1.57-fold, P<0.01), reaching similar or even lower values than the former S100B inhibitors. Regarding IL-10, all treatments appeared to maintain elevated values, except for Nanobody 17 (2.81-fold), perhaps indicating a lower level of inflammation to counteract. Concerning HMGB1 expression, Nanobody 17 was the most effective in lowering its expression when compared to LPC-induction in the absence of any treatment (1.7-fold, P<0.05). RAGE receptor expression markedly decreased in all treatments, with a higher efficacy for Pentamidine (4.76-fold, P<0.05), Nanobody 2 (3.2-fold, P<0.05), Nanobody 16 (2.6-fold, P<0.05) and Nanobody 17 (0.87-fold, P<0.01) suggesting that S100B signal transduction may be abrogated. Concerning TLR4, the high variability suggests a reduced involvement of this receptor in the demyelination pathogenesis.



Figure 3.10 - More pro-inflammatory profile is reverted upon treatments in LPC-induced demyelination cultures. COSC were exposed to LPC, in the presence of each treatment separately (Pentamidine, S100B Antibody, Nanobody 16 and 17), at 7 days in vitro (DIV) for 18 h. After this period, fresh medium (LPC-depleted) was replaced on cultures and treatments maintained for additional 30 h of recovery. Samples for mRNA expression analysis were collected at 48 h post-incubation with LPC. Relative (A) TNF- α , (B) IL-1 β , (C) IL-10, (D) HMGB1, (E) RAGE and (F) TLR4 mRNA levels were determined by qRealTime-PCR. Results were normalized to β -actin. Results are mean ± SEM of n=5 per group. One-way ANOVA with Tukey post-test or t test was used to determine the statistical significance as appropriate (* P<0.05, ** P<0.01 and **** P<0.0001 vs. control; # P<0.05, ## P<0.01 vs. non-treated cultures incubated with LPC).

Once again NF-kB pro-inflammatory pathway was evaluated through Western blot, to ascertain its involvement in the induction of cytokine expression under this demyelinating insult. As previously examined in **Figure 3.4**, we observed a reduced NF-kB activation upon LPC-demyelination (0.31-fold, P<0.001), and no changes from control values were observed for each treatment assayed **(Figure 3.11)**. These results suggest once more that further studies are needed to clarify whether NF-kB activation is occurring at other time-point or not involved in cytokine induction following LPC injury.



Figure 3.11 – Different treatments seem to abrogate NF-kB proinflammatory pathway inhibition past 48 h of demyelination induction. COSC were exposed to LPC, in the presence of each treatment separately (Pentamidine, S100B Antibody, Nanobody 16 and 17), at 7 days in vitro (DIV) for 18 h. After this period, fresh medium (LPC-depleted) was replaced on cultures and treatments maintained for additional 30 h of recovery. Protein samples were collected at 48 h post-incubation and pNF-kB and total NF-kB protein expression assessed by Western Blot. Representative results of phosphorylated NF-kB (pNF-kB) and NF-kB from organotypic tissues are shown (top). Graph bars represent NF-kB pathway activation through the ratio between pNF-kB and total NF-kB (below). Results were normalized to total protein. Results are mean ± SEM of n=3 per group. One-way ANOVA with Tukey post-test or t test was used to determine the statistical significance as appropriate (*** P<0.001 vs. control; # P<0.05 vs. respective condition in WT).

Overall, these results suggest a beneficial role of S100B-targeting Nanobodies in the prevention of demyelination, glial reactivity, and inflammatory response upon LPC injury, highlighting the need of further studies to better clarify which Nanobody has a higher efficacy.

6. Discussion

MS is a chronic autoimmune disease of the CNS, characterized by neuroinflammation, reactive gliosis, demyelination, axonal loss, and neuronal degeneration^{1,2}. As consequence, MS patients face an increase in both motor and cognitive decline over time, depending on how active this disease can be^{151,152}. Always with this in mind, several approaches have been made to reduce disease severity, delaying as much as possible the disease progression. S100B has been proving to be one promising therapeutic target since it has been repeatedly described to be deeply involved in MS pathogenesis^{19,45,153}. As a starting point, our group showed that S100B was found upregulated in both CSF and serum from MS patients at the time of diagnosis of RRMS, as well as in the active MS lesions from *post-mortem* brain tissues¹⁹. Besides, this past study also revealed that, in the same ex vivo model of demyelination used in the present dissertation, S100B higher expression did worsen the degree of demyelination, provoked higher astrocytic reactivity along with a more pro-inflammatory environment. Furthermore, our group used three different molecules to neutralize S100B neurotoxic effects: (1) an S100B-specific antibody (ex vivo)¹⁹; (2) FPS-ZM1, an antagonist for S100B receptor RAGE (ex vivo)²⁶; and at last (3) S100B-binding drug Pentamidine (both *in vivo* and *ex vivo*)^{72,88,89}. Although all molecules demonstrated promising results diminishing S100B pejorative effects, the possibility to use Nanobody-mediated therapy against S100B for the first time piqued our curiosity.

Initially, we began to evaluate high S100B effects upon demyelination using an *ex vivo* model, commonly used in our laboratory. To accomplish this objective, we used COSCs which provide a complex multicellular environment from different mice groups: homozygotic (WT), heterozygotic (HET), and knockout (KO) S100B to further understand S100B effects through its partial or complete absence (HET and KO cultures, respectively). Within this goal, we first analysed S100B expression and secretion, upon demyelination,

as a step to validate our disease model. Our results in WT mice proved that S100B expression and secretion were significantly amplified 18 h after demyelination induction, although, 30 h after the previously measured time point, S100B transcriptional and translational levels markedly decreased to values below control. These last two results might appear contradictory to those obtained formerly, even though, two different circumstances must be taken into consideration. The time point used was 30 h after LPC incubation stopped, in which inhibitory processes might already be taking place, possibly as a counteracting response to the already increased values of S100B seen before, and over time, a reduction in the protein level. Another important aspect is the fact that S100B protein analysis was done from the slice itself, where an exacerbated secretion is known to be taking place, perhaps leaving the intracellular compartment with lower levels of S100B. Regarding HET cultures, as expected, the levels of S100B expression/secretion were also higher than respective control 18 h after LPC induction, although, reached only half of the concentration seen in WT cultures, presumably since only on allele was being transcribed and subsequently translated. Interestingly, 30 h after LPC incubation stopped, both gene and protein expression values were similar to respective controls, leading us to presume that HET cultures were under a lower level of inhibition than WT cultures, probably because these values were not so increased as WT ones. At last, KO cultures did not present values in either technique as expected.

Concerning demyelination, it is known that higher values of S100B promote microglial and astrocyte reactivity, leading to the release of nitric oxide and TNF- α , being even more detrimental for OLs^{45,154}. We further evaluated how OL lineage cells were reacting upon LPC insult in COSCs. Predictably, WT cultures revealed lower values of MBP, accompanied by an increase in NG2 expression. This result suggests that demyelination indeed occurred and is now followed by OPC recruitment, counteracting mature OL damage, or even respective cell death. The partial or complete absence of S100B in cultures (HET and KO cultures, respectively) resulted in stable values of MBP as well as NG2, suggesting that these cultures were not so affected as in the presence of increased values of S100B in WT cultures. Nevertheless, is important to mention that S100B's complete absence was described to impair the correct differentiation of OPCs into myelinating OLs, since S100B expression at physiological levels is required for a proper differentiation into mature OLs⁵⁰.

The third component analysed was the inflammatory panel, since MS pathophysiology is known to detain a complex engagement of inflammatory mediators. As previously mentioned, astrocytes and microglia activation, during demyelination periods, lead to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, as also does higher concentrations of S100B^{2,41,45,71}. Curiously, S100B expression is regulated by TNF- α , IL-1 β among other mediators¹⁵⁵, and is known to transduce its pro-inflammatory signaling, as well as HMGB1, via both RAGE and TLR4 receptors (when overexpressed), leading to the activation of NF-kB pro-inflammatory pathway¹⁵⁰. In turn, this pathway promotes the release of more pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-1 β^{150} , generating an endlessly inflammatory loop. Consonant with previous results, a clear pro-inflammatory picture is present in WT cultures that undergone demyelination. The expression of firstline cytokines was markedly increased upon demyelination in WT cultures as is the case of TNF- α , IL-1 β , and HMGB1, already described to follow this pattern in similar circumstances^{19,45,53,154,156}. Interestingly, both RAGE and TLR4 receptors were also found overexpressed in demyelinated cultures. The former receptor has been described to be upregulated by extracellular S100B at higher concentrations¹⁵⁷, highlighting again the inflammatory loop. Moreover, IL-10, an anti-inflammatory cytokine, was also found overexpressed, probably as a counteracting response to the ongoing inflammatory process. As mentioned previously, the NF-kB pathway is downstream to S100B-RAGE signaling. Although a higher degree of activation was expected, we observed the opposite. One possible explanation might be the non-involvement of this pathway in this specific inflammatory panel, whereas others may be taking place⁷¹. Another possible explanation might be directly related to the time point used for this analysis. Since we measured 30 h after the LPC insult ended, this pro-inflammatory pathway might already be subjected to an inhibitory process, even with a possible activation in a previous period to the reported. To strengthen this hypothesis, and as mentioned previously in this section, IL-10 can inhibit several inflammatory mediators, including NF-kB pathway¹⁵⁸. Regarding HET cultures, both pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines maintained the increased values as seen in WT cultures, while HMGB1 and both receptors had their values decreased, yet with a significant increment to respective controls. Interestingly, in HET cultures seems to be present a compensatory effect, relative to the cytokines analysed, since respective upregulation was probably due to other inflammatory mediators, as HMGB1. Given the fact that S100B and respective receptors were slightly downregulated, comparatively to WT cultures that undergone the demyelinating insult, HMGB1 could be continuously contributing to both RAGE and TLR4 signaling. At last, the complete absence of S100B in KO cultures resulted in the reduction of almost all inflammatory mediators, except IL-10. In line with this, the NF-kB activation showed once more to be decreased, probably due to both hypotheses mentioned above. These results denote, again, the strong and pejorative effect of S100B on inflammation, influencing cell recovery capacity.

Beyond the validation of our ex vivo model, we went further to tackle this neurotoxic protein using three different nanobodies, all of them with micromolar affinity against S100B. Given the fact that our group already used different molecules to neutralize S100B, and all demonstrated to reduce S100B toxic effects efficiently, we used both pentamidine and S100B-directed antibody, along with the three nanobodies, giving the chance to compare results between different treatments. Following a similar path as the one used to validate our model, we began through the analysis of S100B expression upon treatments. After 18 h of LPC incubation, the secretion of S100B to the extracellular medium remained at higher values in all treatments, as observed in non-treated cultures. Considering that all treatments exert neutralizing roles directly to extracellular S100B protein, it was expected to not affect its levels, at least initially. Once more, S100B transcriptional and translational values decreased 48 h after LPC induction, as seen in non-treated cultures, recalling the already suggested possibilities. The time point used was 30 h after LPC incubation stopped, in which, inhibitory processes might already be taking place, possibly as a counteract response to the already increased values of S100B seen before. Another important aspect is the fact that S100B protein analysis was done from the slice itself, where an exacerbated secretion is known to be taking place, perhaps leaving the intracellular compartment with lower levels of S100B. Altogether, these three different results suggest that none of the treatments had a significant effect preventing S100B production, nevertheless, the possibility of a posterior inhibition of S100B

production, through the sequestering of extracellular S100B by each treatment must not be discarded, since was already proved to occur by Santos et al., 2018²⁶.

Switching to demyelination analysis, the representative images seem to reveal interesting results. Decompacted myelin, stained with QD9 antibody, is increased in non-treated slices that were subjected to LPC insult, although appears to be reduced upon different treatments. Besides pentamidine and both Nanobody 2 and 17 presented a marked QD9 staining after demyelination, the MBP positive tracts were maintained, suggesting a higher preservation of myelin branch structures. Furthermore, Nanobody 16, from all treatments, appears to be the one with less decompacted myelin, suggesting an even lower degree of demyelination. To strengthen our previous results, we evaluated how OL lineage cells were reacting upon LPC insult. In non-treated slices, 48 h after LPC induction, MBP values decreased while NG2 increased, which corroborate the fact that not only demyelination occurred, but also OPC recruitment was ongoing. This accentuated MBP reduction was not verified upon treatments incubation, indicating higher maintenance of mature OL state even with OL damage. Curiously, higher NG2 values were maintained even following pentamidine and S100B antibody, although much reduced in the presence of nanobodies, namely for Nanobody 2 and 17, suggesting a lower necessity of OPC recruitment, and reinforcing the nanobodies efficacy to reduce \$100B neurotoxic effect. Altogether, the three nanobodies seemed to reduce S100B neurotoxic effect on demyelination, through its blockage at this time point, suggesting that S100B must be involved in the exacerbation of demyelination upon LPC insult. This way, using nanobodies to neutralize extracellularly S100B toxic effects, seems to be the best therapeutic approach since a complete deletion of S100B may be detrimental to the correct OPC differentiation into myelinating OLs²⁶, as already mentioned in this discussion. Finally, is imperative to point out that extending the period of culture would allow us to discern which treatment would have better results, regarding remyelination potential as well as the sequelae extent.

Moving forward, we aim to explore both astrocytic and microglial activation upon demyelination, in the presence of different treatments, since reactive gliosis is a common feature of MS pathology¹⁵¹. S100B is known to exert extracellular roles through RAGE engagement in both astrocytes as well in microglia^{70,71,153}. Regarding astrocytic reactivity,

57

this protein can cause reactive gliosis through an autocrine loop in a RAGE-dependent manner⁷⁰, despite the fact that S100B is mainly produced and secreted by astrocytes. Due to higher expression of S100B in cultures, has already been described to provoke an increase in astrocytic activation, seen by a reduction of cell extension and inflated cell body¹⁹. Not only astrocytic activation was reported, astrocyte apoptotic cell death has also already been described¹⁵⁹. With this in mind, our results from non-treated cultures upon LPC induction revealed what appears to be a generalized cell death across the entire culture, in which the clear astrocytic morphology seen in respective control is completely lost. Our treatments showed different outcomes, depending on the treatment used. Curiously, it seems that, besides S100B antibody and Nanobody 2, all the other treatments were effective in preserving astrocyte morphology. We may identify an increased GFAP expression in the presence of Pentamidine and Nanobody 17, suggesting a potential astrogliosis, although, the reduction of cell extension and inflated cell body, characteristics of reactive astrocytes, were not observed. Further experiments need to be performed to further clarify these astrocytic changes.

Turning now our focus to microglia, this CNS resident macrophage is known to be recruited to the lesion by astrocytes. Besides the intrinsic role of cytokine production, microglia play a pivotal role in the clearance of myelin debris left in the lesion region, through phagocytosis, creating an optimal microenvironment for remyelination to take place^{27–30,160}. Our results appear to suggest not only that microglia migrated towards OL branches/myelin debris as well as these cells colocalize with MBP, in Pentamidine and S100B antibody treatment upon LPC insult. This might be suggestive that phagocytosis was occurring, potentially increasing remyelination capacity. Curiously, both Nanobody 16 and 17 seemed to reduce microglia staining following LPC damage, highlighting the need for additional studies to specifically address microglia reactivity under these circumstances.

It is widely known that microglia activation promotes the establishment of a proinflammatory environment, via cytokine secretion^{27,45,71}. To evaluate the possible changes in the inflammatory panel by each treatment, we analysed different cytokines, known to be involved in MS pathology. Remembering KO culture values for the different inflammatory mediators we saw an appease of the pro-inflammatory profile. With the

58

same purpose, we assessed the same inflammatory mediators hoping to achieve similar results. Overall, the different treatments showed interesting results, preventing the higher values observed for non-treated cultures. S100B neutralization by nanobodies seems to effectively abrogate S100B-related inflammation, seen through lower levels of TNF- α and IL-1 β . Nanobody 17 stands out on their IL-10 value since was the only one in which this anti-inflammatory cytokine reached control values, suggesting a decreased state of inflammation. Despite the relative decrease of HMGB1 in all treatments, Nanobody 17 showed again its high effectiveness, since HMGB1 was also closer to control values, suggesting that respective expression may be dependent on RAGE engagement by S100B²⁶. RAGE receptor expression was markedly decreased in all treatments, suggesting that S100B signal transduction was being blocked and therefore, downregulating RAGE expression. Nevertheless, the high variability for TLR4 expression seems not to be a crucial receptor in these injury process. Finally, when we evaluated NF-kB pathway activation, we noticed that all treatments did not show significant differences to respective controls, while in non-treated cultures an accentuated decrease was noticed. These results highlight the need for further analysis of NF-kB activation at different time-points, to further clarify its involvement in S100B-associated exacerbation of inflammation upon demyelination. Altogether these results corroborate the pejorative role of S100B-RAGE axis, creating an inflammatory environment in our experimental model, which can be definitely attenuated by nanobodies.

7. Conclusion

Past results showed that the abnormal S100B expression contributes to MS pathology, since, through its blockage using different S100B targeted treatments, it was possible not only to decrease the disease clinical score in EAE, as well as to promote better outcomes regarding demyelination degree, reactive gliosis and inflammation using *ex vivo* models. Taken together, these results show that S100B can be considered not only a potential new biomarker for MS as well as a promising therapeutic target. The current work aimed to unravel more evidence of S100B-associated pathogenesis in MS, using an *ex vivo* model of demyelination, as well as the possibility to tackle this protein using nanobodies, as a potential therapeutic strategy to reduce CNS damage while improving recovery.

First, we evaluated S100B neurotoxic effects using COSCs from three different mice. The partial or complete absence of S100B within cultures, using heterozygotic and knockout mice as source, demonstrated a decrease in demyelination as well as in inflammation, when compared to wild type counterparts, evidencing the neurotoxic effect of S100B when overexpressed. We then tried to neutralize S100B, using three different nanobodies, leading to interesting results. In the presence of these nanobodies, we observed a reduced degree of demyelination as well as a diminished inflammatory environment, as seen in the first set of experiments through genetic depletion of S100B, indicating an effective abrogation of S100B detrimental effects by nanobodies. Overall, our results emphasize the already described pejorative roles of S100B on MS pathophysiology, highlighting that S100B neutralization by the use of nanobodies, might be a new promising therapeutic possibility regarding demyelinating and inflammatory diseases as is the case of MS.

8. Future perspectives

As in any study, there is always space to discover more about a certain subject. To follow up this study, several other analyses would be crucial to step closer to the understanding of the complex role of S100B in MS. Only this way would allow us to design new and more specific therapeutics to tackle S100B pejorative effects. To continue, would be interesting to evaluate the different S100B species, as a way to better understand the relationship between their oligomerization and subsequently RAGE engagement affinity, and with this in mind, select the best nanobody to be used. Moreover, extended periods of culture with more time points to be evaluated would be necessary to disclosure certain unanswered questions, such as the remyelination potential of each treatment as well as respective modulation of reactive gliosis. Then, based on the *ex vivo* results, we could move into *in vivo* studies that will be decisive to evaluate the effect of the most promising Nanobody on EAE-associated disease clinical scores, in addition to a detailed neuroinflammatory analysis and may even allow a neurological assessment such as electrophysiology, cognitive and behavioural tests.

9. References

- 1. Frohman, E. M., Racke, M. K. & Raine, C. S. Multiple Sclerosis The Plaque and Its Pathogenesis. *The new england journal of medicine* **354**, 942–55 (2006).
- Lucchinetti, C., Bru, W., Parisi, J. & Scheithauer, B. Heterogeneity of Multiple Sclerosis Lesions: Implications for the Pathogenesis of Demyelination. *Ann Neurol Neurol* 47, 707– 717 (2000).
- 3. Koriem, K. M. M. Multiple sclerosis: New insights and trends. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine* (2016).
- 4. Raffel, J., Wakerley, B. & Nicholas, R. Multiple sclerosis. *Medicine* **12**, 4587–4597 (2019).
- 5. Lublin, F. D., Reingold, S. C., Cohen, J. A., Cutter, G. R., Thompson, A. J., ... Sormani, M. P. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* **83**, 278–286 (2013).
- 6. Filippi, M., Bar-Or, A., Piehl, F., Preziosa, P., Solari, A., ... Rocca, M. A. Multiple sclerosis. *Primer* **4**, 1–27 (2018).
- 7. Thompson, A. J. & Baneke, P. ATLAS of MS 2013. www.msif.org (2013).
- Kular, L., Castelo-Branco, G. & Jagodic, M. Chapter 10 Epigenetics and multiple sclerosis. in *Neuropsychiatric Disorders and Epigenetics* (eds. Yasui, D. H., Peedicayil, J. & Grayson, D. R.) 185–213 (Academic Press, 2017).
- Gitto, L. Living with Multiple Sclerosis in Europe: Pharmacological Treatments, Cost of Illness, and Health-Related Quality of Life Across Countries. in *Multiple Sclerosis: Perspectives in Treatment and Pathogenesis* (eds. Zagon, I. S. & McLaughlin, P. J.) 17–37 (Codon Publications, 2017).
- 10. Lossius, A., Johansen, J. N., Øivind, T., Vartdal, F. & Holmøy, T. Epstein-Barr Virus in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, Rheumatoid Arthritis and Multiple Sclerosis-Association and Causation. *Viruses* **4**, 3701–3730 (2012).
- 11. Pierrot-Deseilligny, C. & Souberbielle, J.-C. Vitamin D and multiple sclerosis: An update. *Multiple sclerosis and related disorders* **14**, 35–45 (2017).
- 12. Olsson, T., Barcellos, L. F. & Alfredsson, L. Interactions between genetic, lifestyle and environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis. *Nature reviews. Neurology* **13**, 25–36 (2017).
- 13. Lublin, F. D. & Reingold, S. C. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: Results of an international survey. *Neurology* **46**, 907–911 (1996).

- 14. Miller, D. H. & Leary, S. M. Primary-progressive multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet Neurology* **6**, 903–912 (2007).
- 15. Sospedra, M. & Martin, R. Immunology of Multiple Sclerosis. *Annual review of immunology* **23**, 683–747 (2005).
- 16. Dendrou, C. A., Fugger, L. & Friese, M. A. Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis. *Nature reviews. Immunology* **15**, 545–58 (2015).
- 17. Lassmann, H. Multiple sclerosis pathology. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine* **8**, 1–16 (2018).
- 18. Mahad, D. H., Trapp, B. D. & Lassmann, H. Pathological mechanisms in progressive multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet. Neurology* **14**, 183–93 (2015).
- Barateiro, A., Afonso, V., Santos, G., Cerqueira, J. J., Brites, D., ... Fernandes, A. S100B as a Potential Biomarker and Therapeutic Target in Multiple Sclerosis. *Molecular Neurobiology* 53, 3976–3991 (2016).
- 20. Ferguson, B., Matyszak, M. K., Esiri, M. M. & Perry, V. H. Axonal damage in acute multiple sclerosis lesions. *Brain* **120**, 393–399 (1997).
- 21. Trapp, B. D., Peterson, J., Ransohoff, R. M., Rudick, R., Mörk, S. & Bö, L. Axonal transection in the lesions of multiple sclerosis. *New England Journal of Medicine* **338**, 278–285 (1998).
- Gray, F., Girolami, U. De & Poirier, J. Primary Diseases of White Matter. in *Escourolle & Poirier Manual Of Basic Neuropathology* (eds. Sobel, R. A., Hickey, W. F. & Seilhean, D.) 157–167 (Philadelphia: Butterworth Heinemann, 2004).
- 23. Lassmann, H., Van Horssen, J. & Mahad, D. Progressive multiple sclerosis: Pathology and pathogenesis. *Nature Reviews Neurology* **8**, 647–656 (2012).
- 24. Macchi, B., Marino-Merlo, F., Nocentini, U., Pisani, V., Cuzzocrea, S., ... Mastino, A. Role of inflammation and apoptosis in multiple sclerosis: Comparative analysis between the periphery and the central nervous system. *Journal of Neuroimmunology* **287**, 80–87 (2015).
- 25. Franklin, R. J. M. & Goldman, S. A. Glia disease and repair—Remyelination. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* **7**, 1–28 (2015).
- Santos, G., Barateiro, A., Gomes, C. M., Brites, D. & Fernandes, A. Impaired oligodendrogenesis and myelination by elevated S100B levels during neurodevelopment. *Neuropharmacology* 129, 69–83 (2018).
- 27. Domingues, H. S., Portugal, C. C., Socodato, R. & Relvas, J. B. Oligodendrocyte, astrocyte, and microglia crosstalk in myelin development, damage, and repair. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology* **4**, (2016).
- Kotter, M. R., Setzu, A., Sim, F. J., Van Rooijen, N. & Franklin, R. J. M. Macrophage depletion impairs oligodendrocyte remyelination following lysolecithin-induced demyelination. *Glia* 35, 204–212 (2001).
- 29. Napoli, I. & Neumann, H. Protective effects of microglia in multiple sclerosis. *Experimental Neurology* **225**, 24–28 (2010).
- Kotter, M. R., Li, W. W., Zhao, C. & Franklin, R. J. M. Myelin impairs CNS remyelination by inhibiting oligodendrocyte precursor cell differentiation. *Journal of Neuroscience* 26, 328– 332 (2006).

- 31. Baecher-Allan, C., Kaskow, B. J. & Weiner, H. L. Multiple Sclerosis: Mechanisms and Immunotherapy. *Neuron* **97**, 742–768 (2018).
- 32. Hemmer, B., Nessler, S., Zhou, D., Kieseier, B. & Hartung, H. P. Immunopathogenesis and immunotherapy of multiple sclerosis. *Nature Clinical Practice Neurology* **2**, 201–211 (2006).
- 33. McFarland, H. F. & Martin, R. Multiple sclerosis: A complicated picture of autoimmunity. *Nature Immunology* **8**, 913–919 (2007).
- 34. Ortiz, G. G., Pacheco-Moisés, F. P., Macías-Islas, M. Á., Flores-Alvarado, L. J., Mireles-Ramírez, M. A., ... Alatorre-Jiménez, M. A. Role of the Blood-Brain Barrier in Multiple Sclerosis. *Archives of Medical Research* **45**, 687–697 (2014).
- 35. Brady, S. t. & SieGel, G. J. *Basic Neurochemistry Principles Of Molecular, Cellular And Medical Neurobiology*. (Academic Press, 2013).
- 36. Barres, B. A. The Mystery and Magic of Glia: A Perspective on Their Roles in Health and Disease. *Neuron* **60**, 430–440 (2008).
- Liddelow, S. A., Guttenplan, K. A., Clarke, L. E., Bennett, F. C., Bohlen, C. J., ... Barres, B. A. Neurotoxic reactive astrocytes are induced by activated microglia. *Nature* 541, 481–487 (2017).
- 38. Naegele, M. & Martin, R. The good and the bad of neuroinflammation in multiple sclerosis. in *Handbook of Clinical Neurology* (ed. Goodin, D. S.) vol. 122 59–87 (Elsevier B.V., 2014).
- 39. Xanthos, D. N. & Sandkühler, J. Neurogenic neuroinflammation: Inflammatory CNS reactions in response to neuronal activity. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* **15**, 43–53 (2014).
- 40. DiSabato, D. J., Quan, N. & Godbout, J. P. Neuroinflammation: the devil is in the details. *Journal of Neurochemistry* **139**, 136–153 (2016).
- 41. Lassmann, H., Brück, W. & Lucchinetti, C. F. The immunopathology of multiple sclerosis: An overview. *Brain Pathology* **17**, 210–218 (2007).
- 42. Egg, R., Reindl, M., Deisenhammer, F., Linington, C. & Berger, T. Anti-MOG and anti-MBP antibody subclasses in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal* **7**, 285–289 (2001).
- 43. Khalil, M., Teunissen, C. E., Otto, M., Piehl, F., Sormani, M. P., ... Kuhle, J. Neurofilaments as biomarkers in neurological disorders. *Nature Reviews Neurology* **14**, 577–589 (2018).
- 44. Donato, R., Sorci, G., Riuzzi, F., Arcuri, C., Bianchi, R., ... Giambanco, I. S100B's double life : Intracellular regulator and extracellular signal. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* **1793**, 1008– 1022 (2009).
- 45. Sorci, G., Bianchi, R., Riuzzi, F., Tubaro, C., Arcuri, C., ... Donato, R. S100B Protein, A Damage-Associated Molecular Pattern Protein in the Brain and Heart, and Beyond. *Cardiovascular psychiatry and neurology* **2010**, 13 pages (2010).
- 46. Haider, L., Zrzavy, T., Hametner, S., Höftberger, R., Bagnato, F., ... Lassmann, H. The topograpy of demyelination and neurodegeneration in the multiple sclerosis brain. *Brain* **139**, 807–815 (2016).
- 47. Sedaghat, F. & Notopoulos, A. S100 protein family and its application in clinical practice. *Hippokratia* **12**, 198–204 (2008).

- 48. Michetti, F., Corvino, V., Geloso, M. C., Lattanzi, W., Bernardini, C., ... Gazzolo, D. The S100B protein in biological fluids: more than a lifelong biomarker of brain distress. *Journal of neurochemistry* **120**, 644–59 (2012).
- 49. Donato, R. S100: A multigenic family of calcium-modulated proteins of the EF-hand type with intracellular and extracellular functional roles. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology* **33**, 637–668 (2001).
- 50. Deloulme, J. C., Raponi, E., Gentil, B. J., Bertacchi, N., Marks, A., ... Baudier, J. Nuclear expression of S100B in oligodendrocyte progenitor cells correlates with differentiation toward the oligodendroglial lineage and modulates oligodendrocytes maturation. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience* **27**, 453–465 (2004).
- 51. Huttunen, H. J., Kuja-Panula, J., Sorci, G., Agneletti, A. L., Donato, R. & Rauvala, H. Coregulation of neurite outgrowth and cell survival by amphoterin and S100 proteins through receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) activation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **275**, 40096–40105 (2000).
- 52. Cirillo, C., Capoccia, E., Iuvone, T., Cuomo, R., Sarnelli, G., ... Esposito, G. S100B Inhibitor Pentamidine Attenuates Reactive Gliosis and Reduces Neuronal Loss in a Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. *BioMed research international* **2015**, 11 pages (2015).
- 53. Andersson, Å., Covacu, R., Sunnemark, D., Danilov, A. I., Dal Bianco, A., ... Harris, R. A. Pivotal Advance: HMGB1 expression in active lesions of human and experimental multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* **84**, 1248–1255 (2008).
- 54. Zhang, Y., Han, J., Wu, M., Xu, L., Wang, Y., ... Yao, R. Toll-Like Receptor 4 Promotes Th17 Lymphocyte Infiltration Via CCL25/CCR9 in Pathogenesis of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology* **14**, 493–502 (2019).
- 55. Miranda-Hernandez, S. & Baxter, A. G. Role of toll-like receptors in multiple sclerosis. *American journal of clinical and experimental immunology* **2**, 75–93 (2013).
- 56. Marta, M. Toll-like receptors in multiple sclerosis mouse experimental models. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **1173**, 458–462 (2009).
- 57. Gambuzza, M., Licata, N., Palella, E., Celi, D., Foti Cuzzola, V., ... Bramanti, P. Targeting Tolllike receptors: Emerging therapeutics for multiple sclerosis management. *Journal of Neuroimmunology* **239**, 1–12 (2011).
- 58. Qu, X., Han, J., Zhang, Y., Wang, X., Fan, H., ... Yao, R. TLR4-RelA-miR-30a signal pathway regulates Th17 differentiation during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis development. *Journal of Neuroinflammation* **16**, 1–13 (2019).
- 59. Schmidt, A. M., Yan, S. F. Du, Yan, S. F. Du & Stern, D. M. The multiligand receptor RAGE as a progression factor amplifying immune and inflammatory responses. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **108**, 949–955 (2001).
- 60. Kierdorf, K. & Fritz, G. RAGE regulation and signaling in inflammation and beyond. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* **94**, 55–68 (2013).
- 61. Kokkola, R., Andersson, Å., Mullins, G., Östberg, T., Treutiger, C. J., ... Harris, H. E. RAGE is the major receptor for the proinflammatory activity of HMGB1 in rodent macrophages. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology* **61**, 1–9 (2005).

- 62. Hofmann, M. A., Drury, S., Fu, C., Qu, W., Taguchi, A., ... Schmidt, A. M. RAGE mediates a novel proinflammatory axis: A central cell surface receptor for S100/calgranulin polypeptides. *Cell* **97**, 889–901 (1999).
- 63. Schmidt, A. M., Yan, S. Du, Yan, S. F. & Stern, D. M. The biology of the receptor for advanced glycation end products and its ligands. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Molecular Cell Research* **1498**, 99–111 (2000).
- 64. Ostendorp, T., Leclerc, E., Galichet, A., Koch, M., Demling, N., ... Fritz, G. Structural and functional insights into RAGE activation by multimeric S100B. *EMBO Journal* **26**, 3868–3878 (2007).
- 65. Ding, Q. & Keller, J. N. Evaluation of rage isoforms, ligands, and signaling in the brain. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research* **1746**, 18–27 (2005).
- 66. Sternberg, Z., Ostrow, P., Vaughan, M., Chichelli, T. & Munschauer, F. AGE-RAGE in multiple sclerosis brain. *Immunological Investigations* **40**, 197–205 (2011).
- 67. Wetzels, S., Wouters, K., Schalkwijk, C. G., Vanmierlo, T. & Hendriks, J. J. A. Methylglyoxalderived advanced glycation endproducts in multiple sclerosis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* **18**, 15 pages (2017).
- 68. Singh, R., Barden, A., Mori, T. & Beilin, L. Advanced glycation end-products: A review. *Diabetologia* **44**, 129–146 (2001).
- Gaens, K. H., Stehouwer, C. Da & Schalkwijk, C. G. Advanced glycation endproducts and its receptor for advanced glycation endproducts in obesity. *Current Opinion in Lipidology* 24, 4–11 (2013).
- 70. Villarreal, A., Seoane, R., Torres, A. G., Rosciszewski, G., Angelo, M. F., ... Ramos, A. J. S100B protein activates a RAGE-dependent autocrine loop in astrocytes implications for its role in the propagation of reactive gliosis. *Journal Of Neurochemistry* **131**, 190–205 (2014).
- 71. Bianchi, R., Kastrisianaki, E., Giambanco, I. & Donato, R. S100B Protein Stimulates Microglia Migration via RAGE-dependent Up-regulation of Chemokine Expression. **286**, 7214–7226 (2011).
- 72. Pascoal, P. F. M. S100B targeting to reduce demyelination and EAE pathogenesis. (MSc. thesis. Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Lisbon, 2017).
- 73. Sternberg, Z., Chiotti, A., Tario, J., Chichelli, T., Patel, N., ... Karmon, Y. Reduced expression of membrane-bound (m)RAGE is a biomarker of multiple sclerosis disease progression. *Immunobiology* **221**, 193–198 (2016).
- Sternberg, Z., Weinstock-Guttman, B., Hojnacki, D., Zamboni, P., Zivadinov, R., ... Munschauer, F. Soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products in multiple sclerosis: A potential marker of disease severity. *Multiple Sclerosis* 14, 759–763 (2008).
- 75. Yan, S. S. Du, Wu, Z. Y., Zhang, H. P., Furtado, G., Chen, X., ... Jiang, H. Suppression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by selective blockade of encephalitogenic T-cell infiltration of the central nervous system. *Nature Medicine* **9**, 287–293 (2003).
- 76. Shi, D. Y., Bierhaus, A., Nawroth, P. P. & Stern, D. M. RAGE and Alzheimer's disease: A progression factor for amyloid-β- induced cellular perturbation? *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* **16**, 833–843 (2009).

- 77. Creely, S. J., McTernan, P. G., Kusminski, C. M., Fisher, F. M., Da Silva, N. F., ... Kumar, S. Lipopolysaccharide activates an innate immune system response in human adipose tissue in obesity and type 2 diabetes. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism* **292**, (2007).
- 78. Sacre, S. M., Andreakos, E., Kiriakidis, S., Amjadi, P., Lundberg, A., ... Foxwell, B. M. The tolllike receptor adaptor proteins MyD88 and Mal/TIRAP contribute to the inflammatory and destructive processes in a human model of rheumatoid arthritis. *American Journal of Pathology* **170**, 518–525 (2007).
- 79. Farrugia, M. & Baron, B. The Role of Toll-Like Receptors in Autoimmune Diseases through Failure of the Self-Recognition Mechanism. *International Journal of Inflammation* **2017**, 12 pages (2017).
- 80. Priya, R., Dhanwani, R., Patro, I. K., Rao, P. V. L. & Parida, M. M. Differential regulation of TLR mediated innate immune response of mouse neuronal cells following infection with novel ECSA genotype of Chikungunya virus with and without E1: A226V mutation. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* **20**, 396–406 (2013).
- Oliveira, I. B. N., Gomes, R. S., Gomides, L. F., Dos Santos, J. C., Carneiro, M. A. D., ... Diniz,
 D. S. Interferon-beta treatment differentially alters TLR2 and TLR4-dependent cytokine production in multiple sclerosis patients. *NeuroImmunoModulation* 26, 77–83 (2019).
- 82. Anders, H. J., Zecher, D., Pawar, R. D. & Patole, P. S. Molecular mechanisms of autoimmunity triggered by microbial infection. *Arthritis Research and Therapy* **7**, 215–224 (2005).
- 83. Berglová, I., Krejsek, J., Kolácková, M. & Slezák, R. B cell toll-like receptors with respect to the pathogenesis of Sjögren's syndrome. *Acta medica (Hradec Králové) / Universitas Carolina, Facultas Medica Hradec Králové* **54**, 51–57 (2011).
- 84. Hawn, T. & Underhill, D. M. Toll-like Receptors in Innate Immunity. in *Measuring Immunity: Basic Biology and Clinical Assessment* (eds. Lotze, M. T. & Thomson, A. W.) 80–90 (Elsevier B.V., 2005).
- 85. Asano, T., Mori, T., Shimoda, T., Shinagawa, R., Satoh, S., ... Tateishi, N. Arundic acid (ONO-2506) ameliorates delayed ischemic brain damage by preventing astrocytic overproduction of S100B. *Current drug targets. CNS and neurological disorders* **4**, 127–42 (2005).
- 86. Mori, T. Arundic Acid Ameliorates Cerebral Amyloidosis and Gliosis in Alzheimer Transgenic Mice. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* **318**, 571–578 (2006).
- 87. Hao, M. M., Capoccia, E., Cirillo, C., Boesmans, W. & Vanden Berghe, P. Arundic Acid Prevents Developmental Upregulation of S100B Expression and Inhibits Enteric Glial Development. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience* **11**, 42 (2017).
- 88. Soromenho, B. dos S. P. Role of S100B in EAE pathogenesis. (MSc. thesis. Faculty of Medicine, University of Lisbon, 2020).
- 89. Barros, C. da S. Target S100B to reduce experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis pathogenesis. (MSc. thesis. Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Lisbon, 2018).
- 90. Dmitriev, O. Y., Lutsenko, S. & Muyldermans, S. Nanobodies as probes for protein dynamics in vitro and in cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **291**, 3767–3775 (2016).

- 91. Arezumand, R., Alibakhshi, A., Ranjbari, J., Ramazani, A. & Muyldermans, S. Nanobodies as novel agents for targeting angiogenesis in solid cancers. *Frontiers in Immunology* **8**, 1746 (2017).
- 92. Hassanzadeh-Ghassabeh, G., Devoogdt, N., De Pauw, P., Vincke, C., Muyldermans, S., ... Muyldermans, S. Nanobodies and their potential applications. *Nanomedicine* **8**, 1013– 1026 (2013).
- 93. David, M. A., Jones, D. R. & Tayebi, M. Potential candidate camelid antibodies for the treatment of protein-misfolding diseases. *Journal of Neuroimmunology* **272**, 76–85 (2014).
- 94. Rutgers, K. S., Nabuurs, R. J. A., van den Berg, S. A. A., Schenk, G. J., Rotman, M., ... Van der Maarel, S. M. Transmigration of beta amyloid specific heavy chain antibody fragments across the in vitro blood-brain barrier. *Neuroscience* **190**, 37–42 (2011).
- 95. Caljon, G., Caveliers, V., Lahoutte, T., Stijlemans, B., Ghassabeh, G. H., ... Clinckers, R. Using microdialysis to analyse the passage of monovalent nanobodies through the blood-brain barrier. *British Journal of Pharmacology* **165**, 2341–2353 (2012).
- 96. Jones, D. R., Taylor, W. A., Bate, C., David, M. & Tayebi, M. A camelid anti-PrP antibody abrogates PrPSc replication in prion-permissive neuroblastoma cell lines. *PLoS ONE* **5**, e9804 (2010).
- 97. Li, T., Bourgeois, J. P., Celli, S., Glacial, F., Le Sourd, A. M., ... Lafaye, P. Cell-penetrating anti-GFAP VHH and corresponding fluorescent fusion protein VHH-GFP spontaneously cross the blood-brain barrier and specifically recognize astrocytes: Application to brain imaging. *FASEB Journal* **26**, 3969–3979 (2012).
- Menzel, S., Schwarz, N., Haag, F. & Koch-Nolte, F. Nanobody-based biologics for modulating purinergic signaling in inflammation and immunity. *Frontiers in Pharmacology* 9, 1–7 (2018).
- 99. Lassmann, H. & Bradl, M. Multiple sclerosis: experimental models and reality. *Acta Neuropathologica* **133**, 223–244 (2017).
- Zhang, H., Jarjour, A. A., Boyd, A. & Williams, A. Central nervous system remyelination in culture - A tool for multiple sclerosis research. *Experimental Neurology* 230, 138–148 (2011).
- 101. Burrows, D. J., McGown, A., Jain, S. A., De Felice, M., Ramesh, T. M., ... Majid, A. Animal models of multiple sclerosis: From rodents to zebrafish. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal* **25**, 306–324 (2019).
- 102. Procaccini, C., De Rosa, V., Pucino, V., Formisano, L. & Matarese, G. Animal models of Multiple Sclerosis. *European Journal of Pharmacology* **759**, 182–191 (2015).
- 103. Denic, A., Johnson, A. J., Bieber, A. J., Warrington, A. E., Rodriguez, M. & Pirko, I. The relevance of animal models in multiple sclerosis research. *Pathophysiology* **18**, 21–29 (2011).
- 104. Steinman, L. & Zamvil, S. S. How to successfully apply animal studies in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis to research on multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology* **60**, 12–21 (2006).

- 105. Constantinescu, C. S., Farooqi, N., O'Brien, K. & Gran, B. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) as a model for multiple sclerosis (MS). *British Journal of Pharmacology* **164**, 1079–1106 (2011).
- 106. Sriram, S. & Steiner, I. Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: A misleading model of multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology* **58**, 939–945 (2005).
- 107. Aubert, C., Chamorro, M. & Brahic, M. Identification of Theiler's virus infected cells in the central nervous system of the mouse during demyelinating disease. *Microbial Pathogenesis* **3**, 319–326 (1987).
- Dal Canto, M. C. & Lipton, H. L. Ultrastructural immunohistochemical localization of virus in acute and chronic demyelinating Theiler's virus infection. *American Journal of Pathology* **106**, 20–29 (1982).
- 109. DePaula-Silva, A. B., Hanak, T. J., Libbey, J. E. & Fujinami, R. S. Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus infection of SJL/J and C57BL/6J mice: Models for multiple sclerosis and epilepsy. *Journal of Neuroimmunology* **308**, 30–42 (2017).
- 110. Tsunoda, I., Tanaka, T., Terry, E. J. & Fujinami, R. S. Contrasting roles for axonal degeneration in an autoimmune versus viral model of multiple sclerosis: When can axonal injury be beneficial? *American Journal of Pathology* **170**, 214–226 (2007).
- 111. Lipton, H. L. Theiler's virus infection in mice: an unusual biphasic disease process leading to demyelination. *Infection and Immunity* **11**, 1147–1155 (1975).
- 112. Rodriguez, M., Oleszak, E. & Leibowitz, J. Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis: a model of demyelination and persistence of virus. *Critical reviews in immunology* **7**, 325–65 (1987).
- 113. Baker, D. & Amor, S. Mouse Models of Multiple Sclerosis: Lost in Translation? *Current Pharmaceutical Design* **21**, 2440–2452 (2015).
- 114. Osorio-Querejeta, I., Sáenz-Cuesta, M., Muñoz-Culla, M. & Otaegui, D. Models for Studying Myelination, Demyelination and Remyelination. *NeuroMolecular Medicine* **19**, 181–192 (2017).
- 115. Blakemore, W. F. & Franklin, R. J. M. Remyelination in Experimental Models of Toxin-Induced Demyelination. in *Advances in multiple Sclerosis and Experimental Demyelinating Diseases* (ed. Rodriguez, M.) 193–212 (Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2008).
- 116. Franklin, R. J. M. & Gallo, V. The translational biology of remyelination: Past, present, and future. *GLIA* **62**, 1905–1915 (2014).
- 117. Franklin, R. J. M., Ffrench-Constant, C., Edgar, J. M. & Smith, K. J. Neuroprotection and repair in multiple sclerosis. *Nature Reviews Neurology* **8**, 624–634 (2012).
- 118. Woodruff, R. H. & Franklin, R. J. M. Demyelination and remyelination of the caudal cerebellar peduncle of adult rats following stereotaxic injections of lysolecithin, ethidium bromide, and complement/anti-galactocerebroside: A comparative study. *GLIA* **25**, 216–228 (1999).
- J. van der Star, B., Y.S. Vogel, D., Kipp, M., Puentes, F., Baker, D. & Amor, S. In Vitro and In Vivo Models of Multiple Sclerosis. *CNS & Neurological Disorders - Drug Targets* 11, 570– 588 (2012).
- 120. Gregson, N. A. Lysolipids and membrane damage: Lysolecithin and its interaction with myelin. *Biochemical Society Transactions* **17**, 280–283 (1989).

- 121. Hall, S. M. The effect of injections of lysophosphatidyl choline into white matter of the adult mouse spinal cord. *Journal of Cell Science* **10**, 535–546 (1972).
- 122. Podbielska, M., Banik, N. L., Kurowska, E. & Hogan, E. L. Myelin Recovery in Multiple Sclerosis: The Challenge of Remyelination. *Brain Sci* **3**, 1282–1324 (2013).
- 123. Jeffery, N. D. & Blakemore, W. F. Remyelination of mouse spinal cord axons demyelinated by local injection of lysolecithin. *Journal of Neurocytology* **24**, 775–781 (1995).
- 124. Trotter, J. & Smith, M. E. The role of phospholipases from inflammatory macrophages in demyelination. *Neurochemical research* **11**, 349–61 (1986).
- 125. Miron, V. E., Boyd, A., Zhao, J. W., Yuen, T. J., Ruckh, J. M., ... Ffrench-Constant, C. M2 microglia and macrophages drive oligodendrocyte differentiation during CNS remyelination. *Nature Neuroscience* **16**, 1211–1218 (2013).
- Keough, M. B., Jensen, S. K. & Wee Yong, V. Experimental demyelination and remyelination of murine spinal cord by focal injection of lysolecithin. *Journal of Visualized Experiments* 2015, e52679 (2015).
- 127. Sanabria-Castro, A., Flores-Díaz, M. & Alape-Girón, A. Biological models in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neuroscience Research* **98**, 491–508 (2020).
- 128. Matsushima, G. K. & Morell, P. The neurotoxicant, cuprizone, as a model to study demyelination and remyelination in the central nervous system. *Brain Pathology* **11**, 107–116 (2001).
- 129. Ransohoff, R. M. Animal models of multiple sclerosis: The good, the bad and the bottom line. *Nature Neuroscience* **15**, 1074–1077 (2012).
- 130. Mori, T., Tan, J., Arendash, G. W., Koyama, N., Nojima, Y. & Town, T. Overexpression of human S100B exacerbates brain damage and periinfarct gliosis after permanent focal ischemia. *Stroke* **39**, 2114–2121 (2008).
- Wainwright, M. S., Craft, J. M., Griffin, W. S. T., Marks, A., Pineda, J., ... Van Eldik, L. J. Increased susceptibility of S100B transgenic mice to peinatal hypoxia-ischemia. *Annals of Neurology* 56, 61–67 (2004).
- 132. Mori, T., Koyama, N., Arendash, G. W., Horikoshi-Sakuraba, Y., Tan, J. & Town, T. Overexpression of human S100B exacerbates cerebral amyloidosis and gliosis in the Tg2576 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *GLIA* **58**, 300–314 (2010).
- Winocur, G., Roder, J. & Lobaugh, N. Learning and memory in S100-β transgenic mice: An analysis of impaired and preserved function. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory* **75**, 230–243 (2001).
- 134. Gerlai, R., Wojtowicz, J. M., Marks, A. & Roder, J. Overexpression of a calcium-binding protein, S100 beta, in astrocytes alters synaptic plasticity and impairs spatial learning in transgenic mice. *Learning & memory (Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y.)* **2**, 26–39 (1995).
- 135. Dyck, R. H., Bogoch, I. I., Marks, A., Melvin, N. R. & Teskey, G. C. Enhanced epileptogenesis in S100B knockout mice. *Molecular Brain Research* **106**, 22–29 (2002).
- 136. Wu, H., Brown, E. V., Acharya, N. K., Appelt, D. M., Marks, A., ... Venkataraman, V. Agedependent increase of blood–brain barrier permeability and neuron-binding autoantibodies in S100B knockout mice. *Brain Research* **1637**, 154–167 (2016).

- 137. Bluhm, B., Laffer, B., Hirnet, D., Rothermundt, M., Ambree, O. & Lohr, C. Normal Cerebellar Development in S100B-Deficient Mice. *Cerebellum* **14**, 119–127 (2015).
- 138. Craft, J. M., Watterson, D. M., Marks, A. & Van Eldik, L. J. Enhanced susceptibility of S-100B transgenic mice to neuroinflammation and neuronal dysfunction induced by intracerebroventricular infusion of human β-amyloid. *GLIA* **51**, 209–216 (2005).
- 139. Kipp, M., Van Der Star, B., Vogel, D. Y. S., Puentes, F., Van Der Valk, P., ... Amor, S. Experimental in vivo and in vitro models of multiple sclerosis: EAE and beyond. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders* **1**, 15–28 (2012).
- 140. Madill, M., Fitzgerald, D., O'Connell, K. E., Dev, K. K., Shen, S. & FitzGerald, U. In vitro and ex vivo models of multiple sclerosis. *Drug Discovery Today* **21**, 1504–1511 (2016).
- 141. Nishiyama, A. Organotypic slice cultures to study oligodendrocyte dynamics and myelination. *Journal of visualized experiments : JoVE* **90**, e51835 (2014).
- 142. Humpel, C. Neuroscience forefront review organotypic brain slice cultures: A review. *Neuroscience* **305**, 86–98 (2015).
- 143. Batoulis, H., Recks, M. S., Addicks, K. & Kuerten, S. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis achievements and prospective advances. *APMIS* **119**, 819–830 (2011).
- 144. Doussau, F., Dupont, J. L., Neel, D., Schneider, A., Poulain, B. & Bossu, J. L. Organotypic cultures of cerebellar slices as a model to investigate demyelinating disorders. *Expert Opinion on Drug Discovery* **12**, 1011–1022 (2017).
- 145. Liu, J. J., Huang, Y. J., Xiang, L., Zhao, F. & Huang, S. L. A novel method of organotypic spinal cord slice culture in rats. *NeuroReport* **28**, 1097–1102 (2017).
- 146. Gimsa, U., Peter, S. V., Lehmann, K., Bechmann, I. & Nitsch, R. Axonal Damage Induced by Invading T Cells in Organotypic Central Nervous System Tissue in vitro: Involvement of Microglial Cells. *Brain Pathology* **10**, 365–377 (2006).
- 147. Mi, S., Miller, R. H., Tang, W., Lee, X., Hu, B., ... Pepinsky, B. Promotion of central nervous system remyelination by induced differentiation of oligodendrocyte precursor cells. *Annals of Neurology* **65**, 304–315 (2009).
- 148. Birgbauer, E., Rao, T. S. & Webb, M. Lysolecithin induces demyelination in vitro in a cerebellar slice culture system. *Journal of Neuroscience Research* **78**, 157–166 (2004).
- 149. Arcuri, C., Bianchi, R., Brozzi, F. & Donato, R. S100B increases proliferation in PC12 neuronal cells and reduces their responsiveness to nerve growth factor via Akt activation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **280**, 4402–4414 (2005).
- 150. Villarreal, A., Aviles Reyes, R. X., Angelo, M. F., Reines, A. G. & Ramos, A. J. S100B alters neuronal survival and dendrite extension via RAGE-mediated NF-κB signaling. *Journal of Neurochemistry* **117**, 321–332 (2011).
- 151. Compston, A. & Coles, A. Multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet* **372**, 1502–1517 (2008).
- 152. Rocca, M. A., Amato, M. P., De Stefano, N., Enzinger, C., Geurts, J. J., ... Filippi, M. Clinical and imaging assessment of cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet Neurology* **14**, 302–317 (2015).
- Michetti, F., D'Ambrosi, N., Toesca, A., Puglisi, M. A., Serrano, A., ... Geloso, M. C. The S100B story: from biomarker to active factor in neural injury. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 148, 168–187 (2019).

- 154. Su, Z., Yuan, Y., Chen, J., Zhu, Y., Qiu, Y., ... He, C. Reactive astrocytes inhibit the survival and differentiation of oligodendrocyte precursor cells by secreted TNF-α. *Journal of Neurotrauma* **28**, 1089–1100 (2011).
- 155. Edwards, M. M. & Robinson, S. R. TNF alpha affects the expression of GFAP and S100B: Implications for Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neural Transmission* **113**, 1709–1715 (2006).
- 156. Rossi, S., Studer, V., Motta, C., Germani, G., Macchiarulo, G., ... Centonze, D. Cerebrospinal fluid detection of interleukin-1β in phase of remission predicts disease progression in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neuroinflammation* **11**, 32 (2014).
- 157. Donato, R., R. Cannon, B., Sorci, G., Riuzzi, F., Hsu, K., ... L. Geczy, C. Functions of S100 Proteins. *Current Molecular Medicine* **13**, 24–57 (2012).
- 158. Driessler, F., Venstrom, K., Sabat, R., Asadullah, K. & Schottelius, A. J. Molecular mechanisms of interleukin-10-mediated inhibition of NF-κB activity: A role for p50. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* **135**, 64–73 (2004).
- 159. Hu, J. & Van Eldik, L. J. S100β induces apoptotic cell death in cultured astrocytes via a nitric oxide-dependent pathway. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Molecular Cell Research* **1313**, 239–245 (1996).
- 160. Lampron, A., Larochelle, A., Laflamme, N., Préfontaine, P., Plante, M. M., ... Rivest, S. Inefficient clearance of myelin debris by microglia impairs remyelinating processes. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **212**, 481–495 (2015).